
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA  
 

Meeting Police and Crime Committee 

Date Tuesday 30 April 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 
Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Steve O'Connell AM (Chairman) 
Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Sian Berry AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 

Len Duvall AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Peter Whittle AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Thursday 18 April 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559; Email: 
teresa.young@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact Giles Broadbent, Communications Officer – London Assembly on 
020 7983 4067.  Email: giles.broadbent@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual 
items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:giles.broadbent@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Police and Crime Committee 
Tuesday 30 April 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman. 

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests; 

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 52) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Police 

and Crime Committee held on 6 March 2019 to be signed by the Chairman as a 

correct record. 
 

 The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 52 is attached for Members and officers 

only but is available from the following area of the GLA’s website: www.london.gov.uk/mayor-

assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


 

4 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 53 - 80) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed and ongoing actions arising 

from previous meetings of the Committee, as listed in the report. 
 
 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 81 - 90) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the recent action taken by the Chairman under delegated authority, 

following consultation with the party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to agree: 

 

(i) A letter to the Mayor on tackling neighbourhood crime; 

 

(ii) The arrangements for the Committee’s site visit to the Metropolitan 

Police Service’s Mounted Branch at Lewisham Police Station on 

20 March 2019; and 

 
(iii) The scope for the discussion with the Director of the Violence 

Reduction Unit at this meeting of the Committee.  
 

(b) Note the letter to the Mayor on tackling neighbourhood crime, as attached at 
Appendix 1 to the report, and the summary of the site visit as set out in 
paragraph 4.4 of the report. 

 
 

6 Response to the Committee's Letter on a New Model for Preventing 
Violence in London (Pages 91 - 98) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 
The Committee is recommended to note the response from the Mayor to its letter 
on a new model for preventing violence in London, as attached at Appendix 1 to the 
report. 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

7 The London Violence Reduction Unit (Pages 99 - 102) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Becky Short, becky.short@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4760 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the report as background to the discussion with Lib Peck, Director of 

the Violence Reduction Unit and to note the subsequent discussion. 

 

(b) That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair of the Committee in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair, party Group Lead Members and Caroline 

Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output from the discussion.  
 
 

8 Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Pages 103 - 110) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Becky Short, becky.short@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4760 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the summary of work completed during the 2018/19 Assembly year;  

 

(b) Note the provisional schedule of meetings for the 2019/20 Assembly year, 

which is subject to agreement at the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly 

on 2 May 2019; 

 

(c) That the Committee notes the topics for the Committee’s thematic meetings 

in May and June 2019, as agreed by the GLA Oversight Committee at its 

meeting on 8 April 2019; and 

 

(d) Agree, in relation to urgent matters only, a general delegation of authority in 

respect of the Committee’s powers and functions (apart from those that 

cannot under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 be 

delegated) to the Chairman of the Committee, in consultation with the party 

Group Lead Members of the Committee and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, from 

the close of this meeting until the next meeting of the Committee on 

14 May 2019, subject to agreement of the calendar of meetings at the Annual 

Meeting of the London Assembly on 2 May 2019. 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:becky.short@london.gov.uk
mailto:becky.short@london.gov.uk


 

6 
 

9 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 Subject to the agreement of the Assembly’s calendar of meetings at the Annual Meeting of 

the London Assembly on 2 May 2019, the next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 

Tuesday, 14 May 2019 at 10am in the Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

10 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 30 April 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 
 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Police and Crime Committee 
Date: Wednesday 6 March 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 

  

 
Present: 
 
Steve O'Connell AM (Chairman) 
Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Sian Berry AM 
Len Duvall AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Peter Whittle AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 An Apology for absence was received from Andrew Dismore AM for whom 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM attended as a substitute. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 6 March 2019 

 

 
 

 

 
3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the Police and Crime Committee meetings held on 

6 February 2019 and 12 February 2019 be signed by the Chairman as correct 

records. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 
 

That the outstanding and completed actions arising from the previous meetings of 

the Committee, as listed in the report, be noted. 

 
 
5   Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 
 

That the recent action taken by the Chairman under delegated authority, following 

consultation with the party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, 

namely to agree a letter to the Mayor on Improving the Metropolitan Police 

Service’s (MPS) response to mental health be noted. 

 
 
6   Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and 

Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

the questions and answer session with the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) 

and the MPS. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 6 March 2019 

 

 
 

 

6.2 In accordance with section 100(B)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the Chairman had 

agreed to accept Annex A as an item of urgent business on the grounds that the 

Committee needed to consider it at the earliest opportunity as it formed part of the 

monthly report from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) and would 

inform the question and answer session with MOPAC and the MPS. 

 

6.3 The Chairman welcomed the following guests to the meeting: 

 Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime; and 

 Sir Stephen House QPM, Deputy Commissioner, MPS. 

 

6.4 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

6.5 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to 

provide: 

 An update on the Knife Crime Executive Board, including recent discussions and 

actions; and 

 A written briefing on the actions contained in the London boroughs’ Knife Crime 

Action Plans. 

 

6.6 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy Commissioner, MPS, undertook to provide: 

 Up to date figures for domestic homicides, and an explanation of any changes in the 

classification in relation to the figures; 

 Updates on Operation Dauntless Plus and Operation Athena, which were tackling 

domestic abuse;  

 Figures on the MPS’s use of “Right to Know” under Clare’s Law; and 

 An explanation of the differences in the process at a local level for recording and 

investigating allegations of domestic abuse and then closing those cases when there 

are no further lines and screening out alleged crimes.  

 

6.7 The Chairman stated that, due to time constraints, the Committee had been unable to ask 

questions on the exit from the European Union and implications for policing, local policing 

and the MPS Partnership Plus scheme and public engagement with the police.  He would 

therefore write to the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and Deputy Commissioner on 

those question areas.  

 

6.8 At the end of the discussion the Chairman thanked the guests for their attendance and 

helpful contributions. 

 

 

 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 6 March 2019 

 

 
 

 

6.9 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the monthly report from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, 

attached at Appendix 1 of the report, be noted. 

 

 

(b) That the report and answers given by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and 

Crime and the MPS to the questions asked by Members be noted. 
 

(c) That the Chairman write to the guests to request the follow up action. 

 
 
7   Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the Committee’s updated work programme, as set out in the report, 

including the use of the Committee’s meeting slot on 20 March 2019 for 

informal activity and the scheduling of a thematic meeting on 30 April 2019 

for a discussion on tackling violence in London, be noted. 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to approve the output from the 

Committee’s scrutiny on tackling neighbourhood crimes. 
 

(c) That, in relation to urgent matters only, a general delegation of authority in 

respect of the Committee’s powers and functions (apart from those that 

cannot under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 be 

delegated) to the Chairman of the Committee, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM. 

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The date of the next meeting was scheduled for Tuesday, 30 April 2019 at 10am in 

Committee Room 5, City Hall. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 6 March 2019 

 

 
 

 

9   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 

9.1 There was no other business the Chairman considered urgent. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting 

 

10.1 The meeting ended at 12.16pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Police and Crime Committee – 6 March 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 6 - Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for 
Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service 

 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We get to the main part of the morning and, again, good morning to both 

guests.  I will start off the meeting, first of all, Sir Steve, if I may, in welcoming you -- to give a brief statement 

to update us on the three packages that were discovered yesterday. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)):  Thank you, 

Chairman.  Thank you for the opportunity to do that. 

 

Members will be aware from the media, I am sure, but just to recap, we have launched an investigation and the 

Counterterrorism Command has taken the lead in the investigation following the receipt of three suspicious 

packages at buildings in London yesterday [5 March 2019].  We are treating it as a linked series.  I need to say 

that.  It is probably fairly obvious, but all three, we believe, are linked in some shape or form.  The good news 

is that nobody was injured as a result of these packages. 

 

At about 9.55am in the morning, we received a report of a suspicious package at the Compass Centre, Nelson 

Road, Hounslow.  The package was opened by staff at the building and that caused the device to initiate, 

which was a burning effect, and I do not really want to say much more about it than that.  No one was injured, 

as I said.  The building was evacuated as a precaution.  Specialist officers attended and the device was made 

safe.  The building is not at Heathrow Airport and so flights were not affected by the incident. 

 

About an hour later, the British Transport Police (BTP) were called to reports of a suspicious package in the 

post room at Waterloo Railway Station.  The package was not opened and specialist officers attended again.  

The device was made safe and, as I said, no one was injured.  Train services were not affected by this. 

 

Finally, at about 12.10pm, officers were called to City Aviation House at the Royal Docks at Newham, which is 

on the City Airport site, again to [deal with] a suspicious package.  Staff were evacuated.  The package was not 

opened and no one was injured.  It is good news that people recognised that these were suspicious packages. 

 

It is very early days in the investigation.  We have issued advice to transport hubs across London to be more 

vigilant than they normally are for suspicious packages and to report any suspicion they have to the police.  We 

have not made any arrests yet and inquiries are at a fairly early stage.  We are liaising with - I think it is in the 

public arena - police services in Ireland, both the Police Service of Northern Ireland (PSNI) and An Garda 

Síochána, in relation to this. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thank you, Sir Steve.  We will follow that as it progresses, and I 

appreciate that update. 

 

I will start the questions as per the schedule.  First of all, the first question of course is the most important 

issue facing London today.  We have reached 20 homicides [in 2019] and we lost a young lady a couple of 

nights ago in Ilford.  It is a timely meeting today, Sir Steve, because there is also another meeting going on 

somewhere down the road, where the Home Secretary is meeting a range of police chiefs, including your boss 

Page 11



 

 
 

Cressida [Dick CBE QPM, Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis], so I understand.  Sir Steve, what do you 

want out of that meeting? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We want a platform for my boss and other senior 

police officers from around England and Wales to put in front of the Home Secretary what we are already 

doing in relation to violence and knife crime and homicide and also to ask for additional assistance.  Some of 

that will be monetary assistance. 

 

Some of it will be to look at many of the support services that we rely on so heavily and our partners: mental 

health, youth outreach workers, social services, diversion schemes.  There is an appreciation that - we have to 

go back to 2008 and the financial meltdown - as a result of a reduction in public budgets we have seen a 

drawing down and a drawing back of all these services and that has, we believe, impacted on the situation that 

we are facing today. 

 

Cressida [Dick CBE QPM] was very clear.  We are taking firm action on this.  You will be well aware from these 

previous meetings that the number of stop and search has increased month on month.  We are back to about 

18,000 a month, which is significantly higher than it has been in the past.  As a result of the recent upsurge in 

violence, we are putting more officers on the streets and they are staying on the streets longer.  They are 

working overtime.  They are cancelling rest days for officers.  You will know that we have already transferred 

temporarily over 100 officers from our Roads [and Transport] Policing [Command] (RTPC) into the Violent 

Crime Task Force.  That has now been extended for a further six months to the end of September [2019]. 

 

Cressida was faced with a difficult picture because for the first time the media and politicians have realised that 

this is not just solely a London issue.  Actually, when you look at other cities - and Cressida is right to say that 

now is not the time for statistics with the tragedies that we have faced, but nonetheless it is worth reflecting - 

and if you look at some of the rates elsewhere in other cities, their crisis is probably if not on a par then 

possibly even worse than ours; hence the Home Secretary meeting a number of police chiefs today, not just 

from London. 

 

Again, we are seeing some success.  I would not report it to you otherwise if I did not think it was the case.  We 

are seeing knife injuries of under-25s down 15% on the 12-month rolling picture.  We think that that is a 

significant picture.  It is true also that I have been saying for the last three meetings that it is down 15% and it 

is sticky.  It is not continuing to decrease, which is concerning for us.  We are seeing other reductions, which 

we take as a positive sign, but it is a positive sign from a bad place and there is a lot more that we need to do.  

We need to do it with our partners and most of all with the community. 

 

I was very interested in Trevor Phillips’s OBE [writer and broadcaster] comments yesterday around stop and 

search.  He re-emphasised what I know and believe in strongly, which is that stop and search is effective as a 

tactic - it is not the only tactic - but only if it is done with the consent of the community and the 

understanding of the community.  It has to be done fairly and it has to be done with respect.  That is what we 

insist upon. 

 

In other ways, we are investigating and we are making arrests in relation to the homicides that have taken 

place and we will continue to investigate those.  Our detection rate for homicide is extremely high.  It is at  

90-plus at the moment.  I am confident that we will continue to produce those sorts of results and bring 

people to justice.  Unfortunately, it is too late for the families and for the victims. 

 

Page 12



 

 
 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  On that last comment, we had an exchange earlier about homicide 

sanction detections and 90% is kind of the expectation because a phrase that we have had in the past is that 

the MPS and others are very good at catching those people after that tragic event, but it is about preventing it 

in the first place. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Absolutely. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thank you for your comments around the RTPC.  That has answered one 

of my later questions that you are extending the Violent Crime Task Force until the end of September [2019], 

but there will be further questions about sustainability as the year progresses. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Of course. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  There is no doubt about that.  I will be slightly mischievous about your 

comment around more officers.  There has been a debate in the last couple of days and Cressida [Dick CBE 

QPM] has been asked directly whether there is a correlation between numbers of officers and levels of 

homicides and knife crime.  Do you support your boss’s view on that? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes, 100%. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.  Stop and search: I wanted to ask a couple of 

questions about that.  I think you said stop and search is at an all-time high.  I contend that it probably is 

not -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  No, I did not say that it is at an all-time high. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  You may not have said an all-time high, but very high.  You said it was 

high.  No, I do not mean that in a way to provoke any other colleague, but you said that the stop and search 

figures were high. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  They have been going up and, in comparison to 

recent months and years, they are at the highest level per month. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  All right.  That is what you said.  Fair comment. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Not all-time, though. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  OK.  Let us draw back a bit.  In 2008 when we had [Operation] Blunt 2, 

lamented or not lamented, those figures for stop and search were considerably higher than they are now? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  All right, just for the record, because you did mention 2008 somewhere 

within your thoughts.  This was under a different regime and a different way of looking at things, but there 

was a much higher arrest rate and knives off the street under that even higher level of stop and search.  What 

would you say in the context of your earlier comment, then? 

 

Page 13



 

 
 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  What I would say is that we are approaching it in 

the right way under Cressida’s [Dick CBE QPM] leadership and with people like Dave Musker [Commander, 

MPS] involved in it.  What I see little point in doing is saying to the organisation, “All right, the only thing we 

want you to do is stop and search, nothing else.  Get out there.  The drive is to do as many stop and searches 

as possible”.  What that will do is erode the professionalism and the quality of the stop and searches that go 

on. 

 

We know that it can be a very traumatic experience to suffer a stop and search, specifically if you are not 

carrying anything and you have done nothing wrong.  We understand that.  We train that into the officers and 

they understand it.  They have their body-worn video on for about 90% of stop and searches.  I have spoken 

to you before about the number of complaints about stop and search decreasing dramatically. 

 

What we want is stop and search done professionally and properly, intelligence-led, targeted in the right 

places, in the right times, against the people we have reasonable suspicion are breaking the law.  That is what 

we are getting.  The numbers will continue to increase as the organisation relearns the advantage of stop and 

search and the benefit it brings.  More and more officers will use the tactic, but we want them using it in the 

right way. 

 

We will not see a return to the huge levels of stop and search we have had in the past.  We will not be chasing 

targets in relation to that.  What we will be doing is looking at doing the right number to try to affect the 

problem. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Of course, you have the body-worn video now that you did not have 

before. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes, we did not have those before. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is an improvement.  Thank you very much.  I will turn a couple of 

questions to the Deputy Mayor [for Policing and Crime], first of all. 

 

My first question is probably a question and a comment.  We are very disappointed that we have not had a 

response to our letter to the Mayor just before Christmas on the Violence Reduction Unit (VRU).  Last time you 

sat in front of us, you said you had just signed off a draft.  That was weeks ago.  We feel that that and some 

other things have shown - I will use the D word - a slight disrespect of the Committee.  When are we going to 

see this letter, Deputy Mayor? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I can only apologise for that because last time I 

sat here, I had just cleared it and it should have gone out.  It did not go out and it was in my inbox again last 

night.  I can only apologise.  It should be coming straight out after today.  I am really sorry about that.  I 

thought it had gone. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I will see that in the next couple of days? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  It is not a sign of disrespect.  There have been 

just administrative errors.  I am sorry about that.  It really is not a sign of disrespect because, as I said last time, 

it was there. 

 

Page 14



 

 
 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  If you could just note that we are uncomfortable with that?  I will look 

forward to seeing that in a couple of days and then we can reflect upon it.  It is a shame that we did not get it 

before because we would have liked to have reflected on it and then asked you questions in this meeting.  We 

are not going to have that opportunity until sometime to come. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I do apologise for that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Fortuitously, we will have in front of us Lib Peck [Director, London VRU] 

in April and we will be able to ask her some searching questions based on that letter.  That is good. 

 

Then back to you, Deputy Mayor, on the Knife Crime Executive and the Knife Crime Strategy.  We have heard 

reference to that, but what is it actually doing?  We are having trouble working out what is happening with 

that group and with the Strategy.  There is a Knife Crime Executive.  Could you tell us a bit more about it?  We 

wanted to get some information about the progress and we could not find out much about it.  What are you 

doing? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  As you know, we have the Knife Crime Strategy 

and the VRU and everything we do now is building on that in terms of the public health approach, 

enforcement, prevention and early intervention. 

 

The Knife Crime Executive Board is one that I pulled together quite a few months ago because of the level of 

violence that we were seeing in London and the need for really, as [Sir] Bernard Hogan-Howe [QPM, former 

Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis] said the other day, getting a grip on the issue.  I chair the Knife 

Crime Executive Board.  Around the table are all the partners, the MPS, London Councils, Probation and the 

National Health Service (NHS).  The reason for that is, one, to make sure that we were picking up the issues 

that were causing any problems around supporting the MPS in enforcement to make sure that we knew what 

was happening and to make sure that we could track that; and, two, to drive some of the delivery of the Knife 

Crime Strategy.  That is what we have been doing and we have been doing it quite successfully in terms of 

providing that leadership and drive across all the partners.  That is what the Knife Crime Executive Board is 

about. 

 

Can I just quickly say?  It is the type of thing that the Prime Minister should be doing nationally.  What I would 

like out of the Home Secretary’s meeting with the Chief Constables is that they meet regularly as a COBRA-

type meeting with the Prime Minister chairing it to get a grip on this issue nationally. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  It is agreed - and we presume to speak on behalf of Londoners - that we 

think the MPS and the Mayor and the Government should all get a grip on this subject.  Two parties are 

represented today and the Government should equally be held to account and also get a grip.  Our job, 

obviously, is to hold you and the Mayor to account and, by extension, Sir Steve [House QPM]. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Of course, yes, but the Knife Crime Executive 

Board and chairing that is all part of this -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  How often do you meet? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We were meeting fortnightly and we are now 

meeting monthly because of the -- 

 

Page 15



 

 
 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  You are meeting less now than you were before? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Because of the transition into the VRU and the 

work around it.  We will take a decision soon as to what the best way forward is through the Knife Crime 

Executive Board with Lib [Peck] starting because that is the partners also coming together and we do not want 

to duplicate. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Are the minutes published? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  No, we have not been publishing the minutes.  I 

can very easily let you have a note on what we have been doing and the issues that we have driven through. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We would quite like to understand what is actually being achieved and 

driven by that group because we do not hear much about it and, clearly, we are not delivering a safe London.  

We want to understand it a bit better. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  There are two issues that I can tell you now that 

we have driven through.  One is around working with the NHS to look at ensuring that we have youth workers 

in custody.  They had a youth worker in custody through the course of the Notting Hill Carnival, which proved 

to be very successful.  Because the NHS is around the table and we have been as a partnership working 

together on that, we are ensuring that very soon in custody suites, alongside diversion, there will be youth 

workers working with young people at that moment when it can be most effective. 

 

The second thing is that working with the Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) and the National 

Probation Service, as well as the MPS and London Councils, we have instigated the Community Rehabilitation 

Order, which is an order that can be used as part of community sentencing for knife crime offences and other 

offences.  That has been driven through the Knife Crime Executive Board. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  All right.  We look forward to hearing more.  Unmesh? 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you, Chairman.  I have two questions and I may come back later 

on. 

 

The first question is to you, Deputy Commissioner.  Some of the headline news about has been about the 

possibility of the Army being called in.  I have the exact words of the Commissioner.  It was the Secretary of 

State for Defence [The Rt Hon Gavin Williamson MP] who suggested the Army could be brought in.  The 

Commissioner did not rule out the possibility and she talked about the Army possibly carrying out “other 

supplementary functions”.  What could these other functions be? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We had a conversation about this yesterday.  I 

have to say that I am not of the view that we need the Army involved at this moment in time.  That is not their 

role in the United Kingdom (UK) and I do not believe that that would necessarily be a forward step. 

 

We are all concerned about the violence and the homicide rate and knife crime in general in London.  I hear 

politicians and I hear the media saying that the Commissioner has to get a grip.  I really have to be very clear 

on this.  I have been in policing for 35 years.  I have been a Chief Constable since 2007 and I was in the MPS as 

an Assistant Commissioner before that.  I have not seen a closer grip on anything than we are seeing now.  I 

would hesitate to say that even when I was in Strathclyde dealing with the violence and the knife crime there, 

Page 16



 

 
 

which is much talked about, and I was the Chief Constable there for five years when violent crime halved in 

Strathclyde, there is more grip in London than I was able to exert in Strathclyde. 

 

I am very proud of the work that the MPS does in London to try to confront the violence and bring it down.  I 

am very proud to work for Cressida [Dick CBE QPM] and I have never seen such inspiration.  People saying that 

she has to get a grip automatically puts in the public’s mind that she does not have a grip, and I can tell you 

she has got a grip.  Thank you for the opportunity to say that.  I appreciate it. 

 

To come back to your point, if the Army were brought in, as I said, it would not be helpful for Londoners.  It 

would cause more alarm and concern than anything else.  The sorts of things I would see them doing is, if we 

are searching for a weapon that has been discarded and we are looking at putting a lot of officers into an 

open-country search on a heath or something like that to look for it, we could use the Army to do that sort of 

thing, but I certainly would not see them performing any sort of patrol or response function.  That would not 

be appropriate. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you for your answer, Deputy Commissioner, and we get your 

message.  Perhaps it would have been better if the Commissioner had completely ruled out the possibility of 

the Army because surely you would agree that that does send out the wrong message.  You have said that you 

have not lost a grip on the situation in London. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I would say that the Commissioner is more 

diplomatic by nature than I am, probably, and I just feel that we should -- 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  I am glad you have said what you have said because we have that 

message.  This meeting is being webcast and we need to get the message across to London that the MPS is 

here to deal with the situation and perhaps the Commissioner could have been firmer on that.  As you have 

politely said, she is probably being diplomatic. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I am certainly not criticising anything she said. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  No.  If I can come to you now, Deputy Mayor, we have heard of all the work that you 

have been doing in the past and at present with the Violent Crime Task Force, which is an excellent initiative.  

Clearly, there are funding issues with sustaining it and so on, but really, we have to inject a sense of urgency 

into this debate.  The message, certainly from my part of London, is - and it is a national thing now - that 

there is a London emergency.  Certain Londoners talked about a national emergency.  The message really is 

enough is enough. 

 

What exactly are you going to be doing that is going to be different over the next few days and weeks?  We 

have all of these various boards.  We have the public health approach.  Clearly, the public are demanding 

action and they want it now. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I agree and that is what we have been doing and 

the action we have been taking for the last year around a sense of urgency and ensuring that the public and 

everybody knows what we are doing. 

 

I just have to echo the Deputy Commissioner’s remarks about the MPS.  The Violent Crime Task Force and the 

MPS - not just the Task Force - are focused on violence.  We have a total focus on tackling violence in the 

MPS.  Whilst we still are at far too high levels of violence on the streets of London, as the Commissioner says, 

Page 17



 

 
 

we are beginning to see early signs of that grip and what that means because we are beginning to see the 

reduction in knife crime with injury.  It is too early days.  It is no compensation for those families that are 

bereaved and the levels are still too high, but you can see the effect that the grip that the MPS has and the 

Mayor has on this issue and the priority around that.  We have been doing that for a year and we will continue 

to do that. 

 

What is going to be different in the weeks and months ahead is the money that the Mayor has put aside not 

just for the MPS but for the VRU and also the Mayor’s Young Londoners Fund.  We are distributing that 

money.  There are over 63,000 young people who are going to be part of programmes and projects because of 

the money we have got out of the door through the Mayor’s Young Londoners Fund.  Young people are 

beginning to feel that.  The communities are beginning to feel that.  There are nearly  

200 projects and programmes being funded by the Young Londoners Fund.  That is what is going to be 

different.  We are really going to begin to feel the effects of that funding, which is about enforcement but also 

about the early intervention and the prevention. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you for those remarks, Deputy Mayor.  I applaud all the work 

that is being done.  As I said, I have seen the Violent Crime Task Force in action first hand.  Many of the 

initiatives will take time to bear fruit, the public health approach in particular, but there is clearly a political 

message that we need to get out urgently.  I would like to ask you for your thoughts on how to get that 

message across. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I am in no way complacent, but the message that 

we need to get out urgently is the message that we have been saying over the last two years: that, yes, we 

have a real issue in London around violence and the Mayor is doing everything in his power to tackle it, but we 

need the national Government to step up and play its part.  That is the message we are continuing to make. 

 

I went to Downing Street over a year ago to speak to the Prime Minister’s Chief of Staff and to say to him, “If 

you really want to get a grip on violence, you need to do the type of thing that the previous Prime Minister did 

in calling COBRA and making sure that COBRA is getting a grip on this, not just in London but nationally.  You 

can do so much regionally and the Chief Constables can do so much in the West Midlands, Manchester and 

other urban areas, but you need a national response to this as well”. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  I should stress, through you, Chairman, that it is important that we do 

not have any knee jerk reactions about all the various stuff that is said in the press about what the Mayor has 

said, what you have said and what the police have said, but I will just reinforce this point.  It is about getting 

that message across that things are being done.  I applaud the arrests that have been made in Leicester.  I will 

not pass any comment.  They may be the right people.  They may not be.  We do not know.  However, there is 

a sense of desperation out there.  I cannot stress that enough.  The public health approach and all of this is 

fine enough, but they are all in the long run.  I cannot tell a family that has lost someone, “Do not worry.  The 

public health bus is around the corner”.  They want to see what is being done at this very moment and over the 

next few days.  As I said, it is that sort of answer that certainly Londoners are looking for.  What extra?  What 

more are you going to be doing? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I go out and I speak to communities.  I speak to 

bereaved families.  I speak to those who are working with bereaved families regularly.  I have been out with the 

Violent Crime Task Force.  I agree with you that Londoners want to hear that message.  They also want to feel 

the difference that the funding is making in terms of the MPS and the Violent Crime Task Force.  They want to 

see police officers out there doing the job, enforcing, making arrests and taking violent criminals and offenders 

Page 18



 

 
 

off the streets.  They are beginning to see that and I hope they are beginning to see that because we can see 

from the figures and the statistics - and it is very difficult to get figures and statistics across - the number of 

stop and search and the number of arrests.  Thousands of offensive weapons have been taken off the streets 

and we have had over 2,000 arrests through the Violent Crime Task Force as well. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  I will finish on this note, Chairman.  Last year, the Mayor called a 

summit of political leaders of London and at the Assembly we had a session here in this room, in fact.  The 

Government talked about stakeholders nationally being involved.  Would you consider something similar across 

the 32 London boroughs, bringing stakeholders together, each of the boroughs.  This is a problem of getting a 

co-ordinated approach.  What role do you see for us as Assembly Members and in particular families that are 

affected by that?  I want to say that no one can speak more eloquently about the effects of knife crime than 

people who have lost loved ones. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The summits that we have had and the large 

meetings we have had have kickstarted a process.  It is not that we do the summits and nothing happens in 

between.  The Knife Crime Strategy also kickstarted that process. 

 

If you are asking about how we are working with boroughs and how we are co-ordinating and showing 

consistency, 32 boroughs have 32 Knife Crime Action Plans and the joint work between the Mayor’s Office for 

Policing and Crime (MOPAC) and the MPS in discussing those Knife Crime Action Plans locally with the Chief 

Executives and the [borough] leaders to make sure that they are Community Safety Partnership Action Plans 

and that they have within them, based on good practice and evidence, the key elements.  That has taken place 

and we know and we are going back to some boroughs to say, “You need to reinforce this bit of your Knife 

Crime Action Plan”, or, “They are doing this incredibly well over here.  You should learn from their good 

practice”. 

 

That is what the VRU is about.  It is about making sure that we have the capacity, the evidence, the drive and 

the buy-in from partnerships to really push that forward. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Chairman, I did think about the Knife Crime Action Plan.  I was not 

going to mention it at this meeting, but since you mentioned it, it might seem a bit churlish with what is going 

on around us, but you made the point.  I have asked for the Knife Crime Action Plan and I have checked with 

my colleagues.  I may be wrong, but it is now two years on and we still have not seen the Knife Crime Action 

Plan.  I am just looking at my colleagues.  This is another example of the political messaging.  We have all these 

things in place, the Knife Crime Action Plans and the various boards, but -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  They are still dying on the streets. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  It is getting that message out on the streets.  That is why I asked the 

question.  What role do you see for us as Assembly Members?  I have raised this before about Knife Crime 

Action Plans at Committee meetings. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  On Knife Crime Action Plans, we need to find a 

way of communicating appropriately what is in the Knife Crime Action Plans.  They are working documents 

with a number of actions in them.  I am sorry that you have not had anything around the Knife Crime Action 

Plans.  I can go back and make sure that we can brief you or that you understand or what can be 

communicated from them. 

 

Page 19



 

 
 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  You are going to write to us on the Knife Crime Executive Board.  You are 

going to give us an update on the work that is going on. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, I will do as part of that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We can link that into that, if you could, because as a Committee we just 

want to understand.  We want to be advocates.  We want to be critics, but we want to be advocates for the 

good things, if indeed they are going on.  If we do not know about it, then we cannot be those advocates.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Just on that, if we are not satisfied, we of course do have the power to 

summons these documents. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Indeed, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We might want to consider that.  You talked about the RTPC being extended to 

September [2019] but I have had an email - Friday, I think it was - from the Borough Commander saying that 

you are putting a load of extra resources out on the streets at the weekend.  You talked about officers working 

more overtime and cancelling rest days. 

 

How sustainable is this if you are going to have to increase patrols considerably, particularly on weekends, 

evenings and so on?  How long can you go on doing that for? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It is a large organisation and we do have a great 

deal of resilience, but equally - and I know that is where your question is coming from - people are under a 

great deal of pressure as well.  We watch very carefully what our absence levels are.  I spoke last night with the 

Secretary of the [Metropolitan Police] Federation in terms of our response to this.  It was a mutually supportive 

conversation. 

 

Back to my mantra, really, and going back to the Knife Crime Action Plans, it is a partnership plan that every 

borough should have, and it is not just about police enforcement.  The solution to this is not just about police 

enforcement.  Yes, we can put more officers on the street and we will and we can increase stop and search and 

we can make sure that we are detecting as many homicides as we possibly can, but we will not deal with the 

origins of the problem as easily as other agencies can do.  We can keep it up for a fair period of time and we 

have been working very hard at violence already.  We have stepped it up even more and the Basic Command 

Units (BCUs) have all been asked to produce a step-up plan, “What more would you be doing, particularly over 

the last weekend?”  We will be continuing that for the next few weeks.  It is high tempo. 

 

You are right to suggest that other things start to become secondary and fall by the wayside.  That is the 

nature of prioritisation.  We are prioritising violent crime and we are doing even more and becoming even more 

focused in the last couple of weeks as a result of what has been happening on the streets. 

 

The answer is that that is what the leadership of the MPS is looking at.  We look at that with [Commander] 

David Musker within frontline policing and [Deputy Assistant Commissioner] Graham McNulty, who has been 

leading a lot of the media stuff on it. 

 

We also talk regularly to the BCU Commanders about what the pressure feels like, what we can do and where 

we can move officers.  We have had to move extra officers into our homicide teams over the last couple of 

weeks to deal with that because they are feeling a pressure.  We need to keep the investigations professional 

Page 20



 

 
 

and swift and we are seeing that they are.  They are getting results.  It is a case of moving resource around and 

moving the RTPC officers into the Violent Crime Task Force is probably the highest-profile example of that, 

but there is a lot more teeming and ladling going on around the organisation at this moment in time.  It is right 

that that is the case.  That is not a bad sign.  It is a good thing to be doing.  It is showing the focus and grip.  It 

is also showing that we are flexible around it. 

 

We do constantly review it.  We did look at the implications of keeping the RTPC officers in the Violent Crime 

Task Force for another six months.  We looked at that and I spoke to the BCU Commander for RTPC personally 

about it and he produced for me some of his thoughts on it.  We believe it is sustainable for a while longer and 

we know it is a priority and so we need to do something about it. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  A question for you, Deputy Mayor.  The Commissioner has said that we need more officers.  

We have just heard the Deputy Commissioner saying that we need more officers.  Do you think we need more 

police officers? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Absolutely, we need more police officers, yes.  

That is why the Mayor has switched business rates and has really invested in the MPS to ensure that we can 

get and recruit more police officers.  However, as you know, over 70% of the MPS’s funding is from the police 

grant, which is a national Government issue.  That grant needs to be increased so that we can really recruit the 

police officers that we need.  We cannot get away from the fact that police officers numbers have fallen.  The 

Deputy Commissioner talked about the teeming and ladling and the switching and the flexibility of the MPS.  

That is really good. 

 

However, I do worry - and Caroline’s [Pidgeon MBE AM] question is a good question - about the stretch that 

officers are under, the pressure they are under and how long they can keep that up if we do not have the 

officers that London needs. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, I completely understand that and I completely agree.  That is why we put forward a 

budget amendment so that we could provide just under 1,400 extra police officers.  I completely agree with all 

of that, but it was rejected.  Will you ask the Mayor again to look at his extensive, £18 billion-plus budget to 

see if he can put his hands in his pocket and supply more police officers?  I agree that in London we do need 

more police officers. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Can I just answer that?  The Mayor has invested 

millions of pounds through the budget into the MPS.  There is £94 million going into the police this year.  For 

the first time, he has diverted business rates into the MPS.  The previous administration and the previous 

Mayor did not even put up the precept and that is why we are struggling now in terms of the number of police 

officers we have because of the long-term recruitment we need to do.  If you want more police officers on the 

streets of London, you need to lobby your Government and you need to lobby the Prime Minister to put the 

money into budget. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You need to lobby the Mayor.  This is my point.  If you are going to say that by putting the 

extra police officers that they need in over the last budget and that will be enough police officers, fine.  Then 

we will not ever have to hear from any of you that you need more police officers.  If you need additional police 

officers to the ones that are budgeted for, I suggest you look at our budget amendment, which would give the 

Page 21



 

 
 

MPS an extra 1,400 police officers.  I think they need them, the Deputy Commissioner thinks they need 

them -- 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Your budget amendment was based on cutting 

services.  For example, I know that one of the things -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Public relations (PR), but they are so bad -- 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  In the PR that you are trying to cut, one of the 

things was the rough sleeper campaign, which was about fundraising and getting rough sleepers off the streets 

of London.  That is not PR.  Those are crucial services for London.  Your budget amendment also tries to cut 

money from MOPAC, which is around services for violence against women and girls, victims services, services 

for young offenders.  All the prevention and early intervention that on previous occasions you argue for you 

are now arguing to cut. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  We are talking about police officers and we support more police officers.  If I can then ask 

the Deputy Commissioner, please, this is a brief one.  It was very interesting.  You gave a really good speech 

yesterday at the conference talking about facial recognition.  It is such a shame that your database is only 

4,000 because you could get really incredible results from that.  I believe that in the last trial you did, you got 

four villains out of it, which is extremely good. 

 

If this is the way forward, how quickly do you think we will be able to get a much bigger database? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  What we are looking at the moment, as you 

know, was a pilot exercise and was declared as such.  It is being overseen by the Mayor’s Ethics Committee 

[the London Policing Ethics Panel].  We also have independent academics looking at it from Essex University 

and the Home Office is watching it very carefully as well.  We need to get their report back and their evaluation 

back first.  I am expecting that this month from them.  That is when it is due to be delivered: this month.  Once 

we have that, the Commissioner will look at it and take some decisions on operational deployment.  She has 

said already that she is very keen on using this technology on the streets of London with the appropriate 

safeguards and publicity for the public so that they understand what is happening, but we are keen to move 

ahead with it. 

 

In terms of the size of the database, because this is a pilot study, it has been quite hard to load the database 

with the relevant groups of people.  The database is completely made up of people who are wanted for 

offences.  Therefore, it requires us to manually load up a standalone laptop to link to the facial recognition 

system.  That is what really governs the size of the database.  It could be larger because there are more people 

than that who are wanted, but we try to keep it at a sensible level for us.  It is really a proof of concept that we 

have been going through. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Good.  I look forward to that.  Just ever so quickly, Deputy Commissioner, if you have the 

money in place, can you easily recruit more officers? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  As you know, we have recently opened up 

recruitment to the whole of the UK and to European Union (EU) citizens for an indeterminate amount of time.  

We are seeing big increases in the number of applicants, which is very welcome, and an interesting big increase 

in the number of female applicants.  We have seen, as we expected, a reduction in not the numbers but the 

proportion of recruits from the black and minority ethnic (BAME) communities.  We are putting more money 

Page 22



 

 
 

into advertising to try to target those groups because we are determined to try to keep up our progress on that 

level of recruiting. 

 

Yes, we can attract people.  It is simply the length of time it takes to get people into the system and get them 

trained and out onto the street.  We are looking to recruit 3,000 officers this year.  To be clear - because I 

know Cressida [Dick CBE QPM] said this yesterday - some of those are new officers.  We are moving up from 

30,000 where we are now to 31,000 with the Mayor’s funding.  That is great news.  We also have to recruit 

about 1,800 officers a year to stand still because of people retiring. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I accept that.  Are you still aiming at the 32,000 that is bandied around? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We are aiming to get to 31,000 by the end of 

this calendar year. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Then you think you will have enough? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I would not say that. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  To you, what number would you be looking at? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  The budget allows for 31,000, which is -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  No, I understand that -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Frankly, we have not discussed this because we 

do not speculate on this sort of thing.  What we do is look at what the budget will allow us to have and how we 

will best deploy them.  Therefore, we do not have the academic study to say it, but we could easily absorb 

another 2,000 or 3,000 police officers and find work for them to do. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Good.  It is important that we know because, if we are going to lobby, be it the Mayor or be 

it the Government, we need to know what you think would be the number of officers you would need. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  My history in the MPS is not that recent and so I 

am not sure what the high-tide mark was -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Thirty-two thousand. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  -- but certainly 33,000 or 34,000 officers would 

not be an unreasonable number of officers to police this city. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Thanks very much. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is a good figure.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  I have a couple of questions.  My first one is to the Deputy Mayor, coming back 

to the comments she made in response to Assembly Member [Susan] Hall’s question.  I have to say that I 

totally agree with you because it seems to me that this is the one time when we should all be on the same 

page. 

Page 23



 

 
 

 

Sadly, it does not seem that the Government is on the same page on this.  For example, on Monday, while the 

Home Secretary was calling for a public health approach to tackling violent crime, the Health Secretary told 

LBC radio, “If you say it’s a public health issue, that implies it’s nobody’s fault”.  While the Home Secretary was 

calling this a health issue, the Health Secretary was saying it is an issue for the Home Office. 

 

What more can you do and can we do to get the Government joined up on the same page with London 

governance and regional leaders across the country to say, “We have a national crisis.  Enough is enough.  We 

all have to work together to move forward on this”?  What more is there to do? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  There does need to be cross-party consensus on 

this because on tackling violence there should be cross-party consensus, as you say.  It is a shame that we do 

not have that at the moment. 

 

We need to call on the Prime Minister to get a grip and to call COBRA.  The Mayor has written to the Prime 

Minister today to ask for that.  The example you give about the Health Secretary saying that on Monday and 

the Home Secretary saying something different shows you that there is not a grip in the Government.  There 

are different views and it is very worrying.  We need to have cross-party consensus across London and 

nationally to ensure that we tackle violence because it has got to the point, not just in London but across the 

country, that it is incredibly difficult.  The level of violence is just too high. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Deputy Mayor, can I add to the words that you reflected on following the death 

of the young lady [Jodie Chesney], who was a student, who was an Explorer Scout and who had made positive 

choices for her life?  She was tragically stabbed to death in what I understand was an unprovoked attack. 

 

Do you share with me the concern that this is a seminal moment and that what it means is that we as 

Londoners now understand that it could be our child or our grandchild, within our home?  In London now this 

is not just about BAME young people.  This young lady was not from a BAME community.  We do not know 

who the perpetrator was.  We have reached a point now where every family is concerned about their young 

person. 

 

If we have reached that point, are we too far away from the position where London could see a London-wide 

Section 60 [of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 order]?  I have to say that you know I am not a 

signed-up supporter of Section 60, but I can say here today that I believe that if that was introduced and was 

targeted with the funding, I would be prepared to sign up for that. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Jodie’s [Chesney] death at the weekend was just 

appalling.  My two youngest children are 18 and 15.  Nobody can really understand the grief that that family is 

going through. 

 

I do say, however, that I have felt that throughout last year for every young person who has been taken and 

killed in London because every young person’s life should be a wake-up call for us.  It has been, absolutely.  

Every teenager who died last year of whatever age drove home to me the urgency and the importance of 

tackling this issue.  When I have met the families of those victims, it reinforces that. 

 

I do know that Jodie’s murder has made a lot of people more fearful and more worried about what is 

happening in London.  Then there was Yousef’s [Makki] murder in Manchester as well that has created that.  I 

Page 24



 

 
 

really hope that we all respond in the right way and continue to redouble our efforts around that not just in 

London but nationally.  I really do hope so. 

 

Whilst there has been a disproportionate number of young BAME men who have been murdered on the streets 

of London, it has always been an issue for all Londoners because we are part of the same community.  They are 

our neighbours.  They are our children’s schoolfriends.  There has always been that issue for me. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Can I ask the Deputy Commissioner the same question?  Birmingham had to 

introduce a city-wide Section 60.  How far away are we from a London-wide Section 60? 

 

I say this because I have had a Section 60 every week or every other week in one of my boroughs.  That has 

taken me to a point of saying that if it is implemented, if it is resourced, if it is targeted, then you can start to 

see the results.  However, if you go into a borough, then surely you are shifting those criminals into the next 

borough and then into the next borough.  Does there have to be a sense where we are saying that this is 

something that has to go in on a London-wide programme? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  My response to that would be that it is 

something we would consider and, if we thought it was necessary, we would implement it.  There is a big 

difference, if I might say so, between Birmingham as a city -- because it is not the West Midlands; it is 

Birmingham. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It was Birmingham.  Yes, I know.  Yes, I am a Brummie and so I know the area. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Sorry.  I will stop teaching you to suck eggs, 

then.  It is a small city centre compared to London within the M25, as it were. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Yes, it is like a borough. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  There is a slight dissonance between a London-

wide Section 60 and targeting.  There is not much specific targeting going on at the moment.  You have asked 

me these questions repeatedly about Section 60. 

 

To give you an example of the thinking on Section 60, I was talking last night to our on-call Deputy Assistant 

Commissioner.  What she was saying was that she had had a request for a Section 60 in one part of one 

borough and had asked exactly the question you have asked, “Hang on a minute.  If you are going to put one 

there, you may well displace them to somewhere else, and we know where they will go because we understand 

how the gangs work.  You will also need a Section 60 in that place”, and it was put in place. 

 

I am trying to explain that actually we are quite sophisticated in our use of Section 60 at this moment in time. 

 

Is it needed London-wide?  That would be a decision for me to discuss with the Commissioner and another few 

people within the command team to take that view.  My feeling at the moment is probably not right now, but 

we would not dismiss it for the future. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  OK.  I have one last question, Chairman, just a quick one. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I want to comment on that piece.  This is timely.  From your professional 
judgement, a city-wide Section 60 at the moment is not required? 
 

Page 25



 

 
 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I do not believe it is, but I have to say that I 

would be talking very carefully to [Commander] Dave Musker, [Deputy Assistant Commissioner] 

Graham McNulty and [Chief Superintendent] Ade Akelekan to say, “What do you think?”  Here are the people 

who are looking at it on a daily basis.  If they thought it was necessary, I am quite sure the Commissioner 

would listen very carefully to what they have to say. 

 

My view at the moment sitting in front of you with a judgement is that city-wide it is not essential. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I understand.  I can see some body language.  There will be some voices 

from some enlightened members who would resist it, but ultimately you would make that decision if you 

sensed that matters had got significantly worse, God forbid -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  You would take that view, quite rightly, professionally, to do so.  All right.  

I am going back to you.  You are going to come in in a minute, Peter [Whittle AM], no doubt. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Yes, just my last one.  Thank you.  I will just finish. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Jennette has a swift question and then you are coming in.  Calm down.  

As soon as you mention Section 60, people do get very agitated.  Continue. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Thank you for that, Chairman.  It is not that I am enlightened or liberal or 

anything -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  No, I was actually referring to further down the table. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  OK.  You know what I want from Section 60?  I want it to be implemented 

properly.  I want it to be resourced and I want it to be sustained.  I want the benefits to outweigh the 

disadvantaged that the innocent person who is caught up in Section 60 experiences.  I have no problem with 

Section 60.  In an area where I am, it seems to me that half of my constituency is subject to Section 60, but 

maybe that is what has brought about the results we have seen and that is what I want to go on to. 

 

Deputy Commissioner, Operation Ballymore over a year period up to November [2018] brought about a fall of 

46% in stabbings and knife offences overall were down 9% over that period.  That made a significant 

difference in that borough.  That was happening. 

 

Can you say that the learning from that operation has been taken on board and has been used across London?  

If it has, why have we not then seen significant increases in stabbings and knife offences? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  To be candid, I am not familiar with the exact 

operation that you are talking about. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It was before your time -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Well, there you go. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  -- but you could do it again. 

Page 26



 

 
 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  What I was going to say was - and I am sure you 

know this anyway - that every operation we put in place is debriefed and learned from.  One of the benefits of 

a Violent Crime Task Force is that that learning is constantly being re-examined and looked at by people who 

are completely, 24 hours a day, focused on this.  You have mentioned how effective Section 60 is in part of 

your constituencies.  I believe it is effective, but only when it is specifically put in place around events, 

incidents, locations, gang movements, etc.  It has to be based on very detailed and sophisticated intelligence.  

That is when it works the best because that does what you are talking about.  It minimises the disadvantage 

and disruption to law-abiding citizens and maximises the disruption to potential criminal activity. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  I have a couple of questions for the Deputy Commissioner just following on from what 

Jennette [Arnold OBE AM] said there.  You said that when it comes to a Section 60 city-wide, that decision 

will be up to you and other people when it gets significantly worse.  How do you measure that?  Do you 

measure that in terms of how many deaths?  How much worse does it have to get? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  That might be one factor, but the other factor 

looking at city-wide would be the distribution.  Is it happening everywhere in every part of London on a regular 

basis? 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  We have just heard that if you do it in one borough, they will simply possibly move over 

to the next borough, and so perhaps the best way is -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  With respect, that is not what I heard and that is 

not my policing experience. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  That is what Jennette just said. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes, but gangs will move in a pattern that we 

understand.  They will move from one area they know to another.  They are not likely to move to an area of 

London they do not know.  They are very territorial.  That is why we use Section 60 in the way we do. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  That would be one factor and so what other factors would you be taking into 

consideration?  This is something that has crossed your mind, is it not? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Certainly.  I do feel that we have to be very 

sensitive in talking about these figures and these murders.  These are all individual tragedies and I do not want 

to be painted as being heartless in quoting figures about it. 

 

However, we have to remember.  For example, if you look at the total homicide picture so far this year, 45% 

has been in the Black African Caribbean community and 45% has been in the white European community.  

Londoners are now getting the picture and the media is getting the picture that this is all happening in black 

areas with black gangs knifing each other.  That is not factually true.  We have had a number of domestic 

abuse murders.  We have had a child murder and I am not referring to the tragic case in Romford.  I am talking 

about an infant being murdered. 

 

If you get, therefore, a homicide in Sutton, for example, and it happens to be - and I am making this up - a 

murder by a woman who has just given birth and is suffering from postnatal depression and cannot cope and 

smothers her child out of what she is thinking is misplaced love because she does not think she can look after 

Page 27



 

 
 

it, then there is little point in putting in place a Section 60 to deal with that.  We have to look at the individual 

homicides to ask whether this would be assisted by a broadening of stop and search into Section 60 where we 

do not need reasonable suspicion to stop someone. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  OK.  Sorry, I do not mean to be laboured about this, but given what you have just said 

and the various instances you have used, it is almost certain that there will never be a city-wide Section 60 

because there will always be a very good example or reason as to why not.  Can I just ask -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Can I just say?  That is not what I just said, as far 

as I am concerned. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  OK.  Can I just have my second question, Chairman? 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Continue.  Go on.  All right. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Can I ask you to comment, Deputy Commissioner, on Sir Bernard Hogan-Howe’s QPM 

[former Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis] idea that there should be a Knife Crime Czar?  What do you 

think of that? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  My personal opinion is that more oversight and 

more intelligent contribution and control is always welcome.  The question in the balance is whether that 

would bring it or whether it would simply confuse the scenario at the moment. 

 

What I see is, speaking frankly, a Home Secretary that has summonsed Chief Constables and the Commissioner 

today to a meeting.  You are holding me to account for what we are doing.  I am sure similar things are 

happening in most urban centres around England and Wales at this moment in time.  Sara Thornton [CBE 

QPM, Chief Constable, National Police Chiefs’ Council] today has asked for a COBRA to be convened regularly 

to look at this.  We have just heard the Deputy Mayor supporting that idea. 

 

I am not entirely clear what a Knife Crime Czar would add.  Should it be a Knife Crime Czar or should it be a 

Homicide Czar?  Again, there is a question.  Is it nationwide? 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  What is your instinct?  What is your feeling? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  My instinct, personally, seeing as you are asking, 

is that I am not sure what it would add.  My view is that the grip is there and I do not know what an individual 

sitting outside the existing structures would actually add to that. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We have the Home Secretary and the Prime 

Minister.  [Chief Constable] Sara Thornton and the Mayor have written to the Prime Minister.  Yes, a national 

grip does need to be taken, but that is the job of the Home Secretary and the Prime Minister. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We have that, yes. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  The point is that when you have a former Commissioner saying that we maybe need a 

Knife Crime Czar and when you have the current Commissioner saying that she would not rule out the Army 

and this kind of stuff, can you not see, Deputy Commissioner, how people are quite justified in thinking that 

you do not have a grip on the situation at all, despite what you say?  In fact, if you have to create some kind of 

Page 28



 

 
 

sinecure position outside or, indeed, if you are talking about bringing in the Army, that really means that there 

is actually no leadership there when it should be coming from the police, surely. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Sorry.  I am not the one who is saying that we 

should create a sinecure position.  I thought you were. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  No.  You have a former Commissioner saying that maybe we should have a Knife Crime 

Czar.  You have had your boss [the Commissioner] saying that maybe we should have the Army or that she 

would not rule it out.  The impression it gives is one of instability and lack of leadership.  Can you not see that? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  No, I do not see that.  I do not accept that 

premise at all. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  You do not feel that the people in London -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Not for one second.  I thought I was quite 

passionate in my explanation of where the grip lies and the commitment from the senior position of the MPS 

all the way through the MPS on violent crime.  The public are rightly concerned about levels of violence.  We 

are all concerned about levels of violence.  I do not believe that they think the MPS is sitting back and ignoring 

it. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That has responded to that point.  For those of us who have been around 

a long time, previous Commissioners often do go out there and lob the odd verbal hand grenade.  I get your 

point. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Do not minimise it. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I am not diluting your point, Peter, and it is well made. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The issue is not about whether it should be a 

‘czar’ or not.  The issue that [Sir] Bernard [Hogan-Howe QPM] was talking was that we need a national grip on 

this issue.  I agree with that.  We have a Home Secretary and a Prime Minister who have all the powers at their 

fingertips and funds at their fingertips.  That is the national grip we need to have: a COBRA with the Prime 

Minister chairing it -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  It was a very fair question and we had a response.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you.  I have a couple of questions about stop and search, but first of all, on the 

question of a potential city-wide Section 60, I do not know if you have come prepared to answer questions 

about this, but are you confident that that is within the current law and guidelines?  At the moment, we have 

been looking at borough-side Section 60s -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Birmingham did it. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  -- and the difficulties with which you can conform to the current guidelines in terms of 

communicating with the community.  The current guidelines envisage it being over quite a small area, for 

example, and putting up matrix signs to tell people that it is in place.  When it is borough-wide, we know that 

that is already difficult.  When it is city-wide, it would be virtually impossible to give that level of 

Page 29



 

 
 

communication to everybody.  I have asked the Mayor about this and he has already gone to the point of 

saying that there are 1,800 councillors out there - or however many they are - and you cannot possibly tell all 

of them that their areas are under Section 60. 

 

Are you confident that that would not actually be a change in the law?  Do you have legal advice on whether 

you could have a city-wide Section 60 without just changing the law? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I have not taken legal advice on whether we 

could do a city-wide Section 60.  My belief is that we could -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Of course, you could. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  -- quite simply by the Commissioner saying to 

each of the individual 12 BCU Commanders, “I want you to put a Section 60 in place”.  She would call a 

meeting and we would have a discussion about that, if it was justified. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  You would have to justify it in the case of each borough to do that. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes, we would, and what we have been talking 

about is the very extreme case might it be necessary, and might it be the right thing to do.  If it became so, 

yes, I am confident that it could be done.  In terms of the communication, we would use media, we would use 

social media, we would use public signs and we would use councils to tell people it is in place. 

 

I am being dragged down the line of tactically saying that this is what it would look like when at the moment I 

am saying that it is not quite necessary. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  No, it is just that also the idea has been floated of changing the law anyway to make it easier 

to stop and search without due cause.  We have asked about and I am not sure if it was you or -- 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  That was stamped on very quickly.  That was just 

a kite-flying exercise. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Exactly.  It was like, “No, we are not going to do that”, yes. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  There was no reason.  That was ruled out and 

rightly so. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes.  Section 60 was used city-wide on a regular basis, it would have the same effect, and so 

that is what we need to worry about. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  When that was floated as a kite-flying exercise to 

see what the public temperature was around it, it was stamped on and ruled out and rightly. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you.  Moving on to my original question, which is about you target individuals, 

declaring a Section 60 does not in itself do anything to fight knife crime.  It does not do anything to detect 

criminals.  You have to -- 

 

Page 30



 

 
 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I am sorry.  I do not agree with that.  Why would 

we do it if it did not? 

 

Sian Berry AM:  No, but declaring [a Section 60] does not.  What it does -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  No, sorry, it does. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Can I just interrupt?  Even I know it is a tactical deployment to declare it 

because it then sends that signal out.  Anyway, you can explain far better than I can. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  That is why we publicise it.  There is no point in 

doing a Section 60 if we do not publicise it.  The minute you do it and publicise it, it does have an effect.  That 

is why we do it. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Absolutely. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK, but then the reason you do it is to be able to extend stop and search and do more stop 

and searches without having to use the regular reasoning and suspicion. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It is a control mechanism on people who may 

carry knives.  We tell them we are doing it to try to prevent them carrying knives.  We carry out stop and 

searches, as you say, with the broader power not requiring reasonable suspicion to reinforce the fact that we 

are doing stop and searches and we are putting a Section 60 in place.  There is no point in doing it if you do 

not publicise it and it does have an effect. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK.  We have been talking to people who have experience of being stopped and searched 

and looking at the effects it has had on them.  We have talked to some perfectly innocent young people who 

have been stopped and searched -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  There are a lot of them around, yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  -- who were considering that they were not doing anything suspicious.  We were very 

surprised to hear that before they were stopped and searched - and this was not under Section 60 - they were 

not spoken to about anything to determine whether or not they were suspicious.  They were not treated as 

potential witnesses to the crime that had taken place nearby.  They were merely stopped and searched. 

 

This is a concern I have that the increased use of stop and search leads to a reduced rate of success for stop 

and search and potentially more people out there who have been stopped and searched without being in any 

way guilty of anything.  The question of how you target individuals is the subject of my question, now that we 

have got there. 

 

Another thing that [Sir] Bernard Hogan-Howe [Hogan-Howe QPM] said at the weekend in his article in The 

Times was that he mentioned the need for better technology to identify people who are worth stop and 

searching.  I do not necessarily agree with that.  We have had our discussions about the use of facial 

recognition already.  One thing he mentioned was having behavioural science software.  We have heard about 

facial recognition and we have talked quite a lot about the trials that have been going on.  No one has 

mentioned to us anything to do with behavioural science software. 

 

Page 31



 

 
 

I wanted to ask if you know anything about this.  Are some trials planned?  If any trials are being planned of 

behavioural science software that might be looking at the way people behave and their facial characteristics, 

will you be telling us about that in advance of carrying out the trials?  That has some implications as well. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I do not feel in a position to respond to your 

questions about innocent people being stopped and searched because you are talking about specific examples. 

If you want to talk after the meeting or write to me, I can write back on that. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That was just background.  It was not a question.  It was just that we heard from people who 

have been searched without -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  OK.  When [Sir] Bernard [Hogan-Howe QPM] 

was talking about technology, one of the things he was talking about - and I acknowledge the bit about 

behavioural - is that the Government has been looking for a while at whether there is a way of detecting a 

knife or a blade in someone’s pocket or under their clothing using technology, almost a broad scan approach, 

where you would walk past a device and it would beep or show up.  That would potentially give an officer 

reasonable suspicion that they were carrying a knife. 

 

That is not advanced.  We certainly do not use it.  The only thing we use are the knife arches, which you will be 

aware of, which require someone to walk through the arch.  This is a much broader idea.  It is in development 

and research.  It is certainly not, as far as I am aware, being used in the MPS or any police service and it is a bit 

beyond where we currently are with technology. 

 

In terms of behavioural science, you conflated that with facial recognition.  There is no behavioural science 

involved in our facial recognition pilot -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  No, we have been observing it. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  OK.  That is purely based on cameras in 

comparison with photographs. I am not aware of any behavioural science software that we are using, but it is a 

big organisation.  It is possible that it is being looked at in terms of counterterrorism.  I know there is research 

around, not within the MPS but within the academic and scientific community globally, whether we can look at 

a crowd and spot someone who is behaving ‘suspiciously’.  It would very interesting to see what that looks like, 

but you are trying to turn a police officer’s hunch/suspicion into technology and I do not know if that is 

possible. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I would be worried with all the football matches I have gone to in the past 

and have been behaving myself.  I would not want someone pointing at me and trying to guess whether I was 

had been a bad boy or not.  Sorry, Sian, please continue. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I am interested in the methods you might use to be more accurate in determining who to 

stop and search. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  So are we, yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  In terms of behavioural science, presumably officers can be trained to spot suspicious -- 

 

Page 32



 

 
 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We have officers trained, yes.  They are 

specialists.  They are trained in spotting behavioural tics that may alert them.  They are not exclusively but 

mainly deployed around counterterrorist activity at crowded places and iconic sites, but they are also 

occasionally deployed on crime matters and I am quite certain they are being deployed on that now because 

we are focusing, as I have said, a lot of our resources on the violent crime situation. 

 

I cannot speak with any authority on it because I have not seen the training.  I know it exists.  I know that they 

are trained and they do have an impact. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  What you are asking is really important in terms 

of the development of technology and the ethical framework that should be put in place.  It is certainly 

something that the [London Policing] Ethics Panel is really interested in looking at - I do not know whether it 

will in its forward work - in terms of artificial intelligence and unconscious bias.  There are really important 

questions.  We need to make sure that those sorts of ethical considerations run alongside the development of 

the technology.  The technology has to be really exciting but it has to be done in an ethical way.  That is a 

really important, live and growing debate around that. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  And within, in our view, a legislative framework 

that keeps up with technology.  At the moment, as far as I know, technology is stretching ahead of legislation.  

There is what we can do, there is whether we should do it, and there is whether we are allowed to do it.  All 

need to come together and at the moment it is quite difficult because technology is going so fast. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes.  The Mayor’s Ethics Committee is an important development.  Presumably it would get 

fair warning, like we have asked for in the Committee, of the use of any new technology and trials. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  OK.  I am desperately conscious of time because I do not think we are 

even going to cover all our subjects, necessarily.  Colleagues will please have some discipline around that.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Sorry. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Deputy Mayor, Deputy Commissioner, I just wanted to bring it back to some of the 

issues happening locally.  You will be aware of the tragic stabbing at the Marcus Lipton Youth Club in Brixton, 

my constituency, on Thursday 21 [February 2019].  What is quite worrying for all of us is that that happened in 

a safe haven with a range of young people who were there and witnessed that. 

 

Today is Ash Wednesday.  I should be in church.  In four weeks, the schools are going to break up for Easter 

and two weeks holiday.  I just wanted to get a sense if there is any forward planning that the MPS is looking at 

in terms of what is going to be happening across a number of these deprived areas during that half-term 

coming up.  My worry is that we always plan too late for these incidents.  It is about how we reassure families 

and say, “During the half-term period you can still send your young people out”.  The majority of these young 

people are law-abiding and are following the law, but when we have incidents spilling into youth clubs and 

schools -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Yes, safe places. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  -- it is quite worrying for me.  Just on that as well, I thank Sophie [Linden] and 

MOPAC for the support they have given to the local community in Lambeth and that offer of additional 

Page 33



 

 
 

ongoing trauma support being it is really important that we remember the ‘living victims’, as one of the parents 

called them, who are having to deal with this as well. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  You make a very good point and thank you for 

the question. 

 

[Commander] Dave Musker - I am using his name a lot - has produced five bullet points that we want to 

discuss.  We have been discussing them in the months previously.  This is simply a tabulation of our asks and 

our broader tactics around moving forward.  What are the diversion activities that are being put in the  

half-term break?  That is really important in general, frankly.  The Deputy Mayor has mentioned the Knife 

Crime Action Plans across all 32 boroughs with each borough developing its own multiagency plan.  One of the 

key strands of that is the diversion activities that go on and the youth activities that go on.  How effective are 

they?  If they are very effective, do we want to do more of them?  One of our aims moving forward is to make 

sure that we have a tabulation across London of what is going on where and that councils can make that 

particularly clear to local communities so that they can take advantage of these opportunities. 

 

The other thing to say of course is that we look on half-term within the MPS as a particular hotspot for us and 

we plan our duties and our responses and the number of officers we have on duty accordingly.  We do look a 

long way ahead to those sorts of things. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  That is good to hear.  Deputy Mayor, we were at a meeting last year on the back of 

the shooting of Rhyhiem Barton, you will remember, not far from here on the Brandon Estate and one of the 

issues was around how we should get people to come forward in terms of reporting stuff to the police.  This 

was mentioned in the Dispatches programme by [Sir] Bernard Hogan-Howe QPM.  There needs to be that 

confidentiality because the reality is that a lot of people do not trust Crimestoppers.  They think it is linked to 

the police, even though we all repeat that [it is not] time and time again.  There is almost a wall of silence in 

the police’s work in trying to address and deal with some of the known offenders who continue to want to 

break the law and they should feel the full force of the law. 

 

How are we going to reassure people that we do need them to come forward?  Is there anything being done to 

look at maybe reinforcing the message about the confidential nature for people to come out and speak when 

they know that something has happened and they know some of the people linked to it? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  You are right.  This issue around confidentiality 

and anonymity in reporting is really vital because there are many people who are worried about reprisals and 

problems for them if they come forward as witnesses. 

 

I hear a lot that Crimestoppers is not a trusted brand and people are worried about the link.  However, they are 

really trusted and the calls that do come through can be really crucial.  Through MOPAC, we now fund a 

Regional Manager for Crimestoppers in London because we recognise the need for anonymous reporting.  

They have a campaign running for young people with a different brand to Crimestoppers around anonymous 

reporting and calling.  I know that in some of the recent murder cases Crimestoppers have stepped in and have 

offered rewards very quickly because we have that Regional Manager post in place. 

 

We should use the brand of Crimestoppers and the young people’s campaign around that and really reinforce 

the messages around the anonymity that is there because it is so important that people feel that they can 

come forward and give that crucial piece of evidence and report in.  It is something that we really recognise 

and that we are investing in at the moment. 

Page 34



 

 
 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  As you know, it is completely anonymous. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, absolutely. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  We all agree with you, but it is about getting that message out.  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  The last slightly brief question, Tony? 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Very brief.  I would like to ask you, Deputy Commissioner.  Do you believe that fear of 

arrest and fear of punishment is a deterrent to crime?  You do?  Both of those?   

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I believe that that is partly the answer.  The 

answer is, yes, I do.  I should not be in my role if I do not believe that.  I believe enforcement has an impact.  

The better targeted it is and the more robust it is, particularly in difficult times like this, then it has a great 

impact. 

 

It has to be followed through in the criminal justice system with a very clear understanding and a link-up with 

the criminal justice system.  If you are found in possession of a knife on a stop and search, you will be arrested, 

you will go into the police station, you should not get bail and you will go straight to a court to answer for 

that.  The Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) will take it seriously.  It will be punished at the right level within 

the appropriate tariff and dealt with effectively.  If there is a break in that link with the criminal justice system, 

then society suffers. 

 

Do I believe that people are fearful of it?  Yes.  The more police officers we have on the street doing the 

appropriate targeted stop and search and the better our investigations are, the greater that fear in the criminal 

mind is and we want the criminal mind to be scared and to see that there is a high chance of retribution and 

punishment. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  It is a fact that the arrest rate and then bringing the people who have been arrested to 

court is a very low rate in relation to the number of knife crimes that are reported.  I have figures here which 

say that in 2018 there were 14,700 incidents of knife crime of one sort or another but there was an arrest rate 

of only just under 4,000, which is about 20%.  I do not have the figures for the 20% that went to court, but it 

seems likely, does it not, that if you have committed a knife crime, the chances are that you would get away 

with it completely?  You would neither be arrested nor go to court? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  On the figures you have quoted, there is 

between a one-in-four and a one-in-three chance that you will be arrested, is there not? 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  My figure looks like one-in-five, but even so, if you are someone who wants to commit a 

crime, are there not pretty good odds that you are going to get away with it? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  You do not need me to answer that question, to 

be honest.  Would I like the arrest level to be higher?  Yes, I would. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Yes.  The second question, which is like unto it, there have been proposals recently - and 

this one is for the Deputy Mayor - that there should be no prison sentences of less than six months.  I wonder, 

Deputy Mayor.  Do you agree with that? 

Page 35



 

 
 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Are you talking about the recent announcement 

by [The Rt Hon] David Gauke [MP, Secretary of State for Justice]? 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Proposal, yes. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes.  I am interested in what works.  We know 

that there is a really high reoffending rate for people who go into prison on short-term prison sentences.  I am 

really interested in tougher community sentences if they work and if there is the right investment into those 

community sentences, which we know is not there.  We know all the problems through Transforming 

Rehabilitation and the recent report that shows the disaster there has been.  When [The Rt Hon] David Gauke 

MP [Secretary of State for Justice] is saying, “Let us not have people going into prison for short-term 

sentences”, he has to match that with investment in probation and the community sentences and the services 

that will make community sentences tough and effective. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I am linking it with deterrence and fear of crime and fear on the part of the criminal.  

Firstly - and we have established, I know, that you, Deputy Commissioner, think that the 20% or 25% arrest 

rate is pretty OK - even if you are arrested and then you -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Sorry, but that is exactly not what I said.  I said 

that I wish it was higher. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  He did say that. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I am sorry.  I beg your pardon.  The last thing I want to do is to misinterpret you, Deputy 

Commissioner -- 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Thank you. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  -- but if we are linking that, there is a good chance they are going to get away with it, but 

if they are caught and they know that there is very little chance of them getting a custodial sentence - and this 

really is a question for you, Deputy Commissioner - do you think that these criminals, principally young men, 

who are arrested for knife offences are going to be fearful of a community sentence rather than a sentence of 

imprisonment? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  You are using the broad term ‘knife offences’, 

which is a broad category. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Yes, I am. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It is not a crime type per se, is it?  Within ‘knife 

crime’, there is simple possession of a knife and there is using a knife.  It covers every kind of crime that a knife 

is used for.  It could include homicide.  Quite clearly, for homicide, when you use a knife to kill somebody, the 

full force of the law and the criminal justice system would apply.  As I said already, our detection rate for 

homicide and indeed for serious wounding is far higher than the 20% you are talking about. 

 

Page 36



 

 
 

Tony Arbour AM:  Indeed.  I have that figure, but the specific question I am asking you is: are people who are 

arrested and charged and go to court more likely to be in fear of a custodial sentence than a community 

sentence? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I do not have a lot of background to base my 

view on, but my view would be that they are probably more likely to be scared of a prison sentence than they 

are of a Community Order of some sort. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Yes, that is why I am linking it with the six-month custodial sentence.  It is a fact, is it not, 

that before anybody gets a custodial sentence, the chances are that they will have been through most of the 

community punishments of one kind or another?  Prison is by and large a last resort, is it not? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It depends again, if I may say so, on the 

particular crime that we are dealing with.  Somebody who commits a homicide or a serious wounding with a 

knife is not going to get a community sentence.  They are going to, in almost 100% of cases, go to prison. 

 

People who carry a knife, when it is the first time that they have come to notice and have been found in 

possession of a knife, should they automatically go to prison?  That would depend on the circumstances.  It 

may well be that that is where a community sentence with some education and understanding and a bit of 

paying back to the community might be more effective than a prison sentence. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Tony, we have gone as far as we are going to go on this, OK?  Happy 

with that? 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  All right.  This is for you, Deputy Mayor.  So far as the six-month sentence is concerned, is 

MOPAC going to make representations on that proposal that there should be no sentences in custody -- 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  As far as I know, [The Rt Hon] David Gauke MP 

[Secretary of State for Justice] has made a speech about this in terms of looking at Scotland, which went from 

three months to nine months against the presumption not to have a custodial sentence.  We will have to see 

what the details are of what he is proposing because, as I said before, I am genuinely interested in what works 

and what stops people offending and stops them reoffending.  At the moment, there is a very high reoffending 

rate of prisoners.  However, the judges do not have confidence in the community sentences because they are 

not tough enough, they are not good enough and they are not effective enough. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Certainly right. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  You cannot just go from no custodial sentences 

to community sentences.  You have to have the investment in what works.  They do have to be tough 

community sentences because there has to be a deterrent, there has to be some punishment and the 

community needs to see that for those who are perpetrating whatever offence but particularly violence, if they 

are caught, there are going to be really significant consequences for them. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  This Committee will probably return to this subject, perhaps in a thematic 

manner, in the new [Assembly] year and give it more voice and time then, I believe.  Unmesh, the last question 

and then we really must move on.  I am getting grumpy here. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you, Chairman. 

Page 37



 

 
 

 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  I will try to be brief, but it is quite right that we have spent all of this 

time. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  No, you are the Deputy Chair.  You are fine. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  I should just say, particularly to you, Deputy Commissioner, that this 

Committee took evidence on stop and search very recently from young people who have experienced stop and 

search.  They actually are for stop and search as long as it is done properly - that message should go out loud 

and clear - and as long as people are accountable for their actions and so on. 

 

There are three things.  Firstly, Sara Thornton [CBE QPM, Chief Constable, National Police Chiefs’ Council] - 

again, to come back to her; we have mentioned her quite often in the course of this morning - talked about an 

emergency that needs some emergency funding.  I do not know, Deputy Mayor, whether you have touched 

upon this in your many answers, but have you considered applying for some of emergency funding?  

Sara Thornton talks about paying for overtime and paying for mutual aid within forces.  Have you considered 

that? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We have not considered going for a special grant.  

I am sorry to go back to this.  The answer to the question about funding is an increase in the Government 

grant so that we can recruit police officers to the level that is needed.  Special funding would be one-off bits 

of money.  We always will welcome more money, but the real issue is about having long-term sustainable 

funding. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Absolutely, for which you have been passionately lobbying for a very 

long time, with the support of all of us around here.  I had a motion passed last year by the Assembly.  

Anyway, that has raised the issue. 

 

Sara Thornton also talks about mutual aid between forces.  I am glad, it is fair to say, that this idea of bringing 

the Army in has been knocked on the head.  It is daft.  I do not put words in your mouth, Deputy 

Commissioner.  I am just saying this.  We got the drift of your answer. 

 

Would you consider something like calling upon other forces that - dare I say it - are not under the same 

pressures as the MPS, West Midlands or Merseyside, particularly in the build-up to summer?  My colleague 

Florence Eshalomi [AM] has already touched upon some forward planning.  I know it is not rocket science, but 

I am just trying to be helpful. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  No, that is fine.  My response is that we already 

work very closely with the City of London Police and the BTP within London at operational level, certainly on a 

daily basis. 

 

Asking other forces to contribute in relation to this is probably quite problematic at this moment in time.  If 

you manage to get any other Chief Constable into this room, they would simply say that they themselves are 

under the same proportion of pressure that the MPS is under.  They may not have the headlines, but the West 

Midlands, as I have said earlier - and I know you do not like this sort of analogy, but it is relevant here - is 

under a huge amount of pressure around homicide.  So is Greater Manchester.  So is Merseyside.  It is an urban 

Page 38



 

 
 

centre problem at this moment in time.  Many of the county forces are working very hard around ‘county lines’, 

which does feed into this problem as well. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you for that answer.  It is important to explore all options and 

put them forward to you as a Committee. 

 

I will just finish on this note, Chairman.  As I said earlier and will repeat again, the message certainly from the 

streets is that enough is enough.  Deputy Commissioner and Deputy Mayor, what message do you have to give 

to Londoners from this session about what actions you are planning to take over the next few weeks and 

months?  As I said, we have not even hit summer and we have already had this number of homicides.  Very 

briefly, how would you sum up this morning’s session in terms of a positive message to Londoners? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The message to Londoners from the 

Commissioner [of Police of the Metropolis] and from the Mayor is that this is the absolute number-one 

priority.  We are investing in it.  We are making sure that, day in, day out, officers are on the street, enforcing 

and arresting.  That will continue.  We are always looking for ways to step that up and ensure that, like with 

the school holidays or half-terms, where there are vulnerabilities and where there are pressures, we are on top 

of it. 

 

The message to Londoners as well is that the Mayor and the Commissioner are hamstrung by the national 

situation we are in.  This is a national problem and we need a national solution. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  On the first day that Cressida [Dick CBE QPM] 

was appointed, she said that her number-one priority is bearing down on violence in London.  That remains the 

number-one priority.  The whole organisation is focused on it.  There is extremely strong grip around it. 

 

I know, again, with the background of the tragedies we have had it is difficult, but the reality is that the figures 

have to be looked at.  We are seeing some downturn and stabilisations.  Our detection rate is very high.  Even 

the homicide rate in 2019 so far - and I know this is difficult to take - is lower than it was in 2018 at the same 

time.  We are seeing figures moving in the right direction although, clearly, we have had some tragedies in the 

city in the last few weeks, which we are responding to. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  There lies the question, Chairman.  When concentrating on numbers, the key issue is moving 

in the right direction.  One crime is one too many.  One homicide is one too many.  I know that we will never 

get down to nil, but we must have an ambition to reduce that down as far as possible across all violence.  That 

is what we lose in this debate around the knee jerk reactions about what works, what does not work, who 

needs to be involved in this big conversation, and the lack of people being involved.  There is a group of 

people outside the politicians and professionals whose voices are there but they are not being encouraged to 

come forward.   

 

I believe you mentioned this in a previous meeting, Deputy Commissioner, the stereotypical view of what is 

happening in our streets, that it is all about young black men.  We have heard today that that is not the case.  

It not just about our young either.  We criminalise our young every day that we talk about this issue and by 

doing that, we create mixed messages about the approaches of what works.  We need a calm response to deal 

with this, an action focus, which I believe is being taken now, but a wider debate.  We have to bring in families 

and carers.  We are dealing with a small number of people who are intent on, - in some cases not even intent - 

who are causing violence to others.  We talk about a larger number of people and then we move on to the next 

issue.  We need to isolate and target.  We have seen some good work.  However, I believe it was a mistake for 

Page 39



 

 
 

the Government to concentrate on county lines.  It was important, but it was a mistake, last year, to do that 

because it detracted from other violence occurring in our communities.  We have seen some good work done 

by the MPS and others outside London, where targeted work, if it can be sustained, will drive down the 

violence created on the back of the drug lines.   

 

I have listened to this debate this morning and I can see where people are coming from.  I can understand 

about the last 48 hours, because I do believe we are in a national crisis on this, but in terms of response, we 

need to reflect carefully on some of the issues and what we are not creating on the back of them.  What 

people are looking for is a sense of direction and travel, moving in the right direction.  They need to 

understand, but what is not coming across is all the good work people are doing.  I get the feeling that we are 

losing the communication war.   

 

What worries me is everything that is not happening.  There is an issue about capacity.  I do not want to make 

a political point about that, but equally I do believe that this is a time that we need to come together and work 

out a consensus for a way forward, whether at a national level or a London level, about moving forward.  I do 

thank the professionals, both in local government and the police, who are working with politicians, trying to 

minimise where we are at the moment, but something has gone terribly wrong.  What I would say now, and I 

have said this in the past, is that we at the London Assembly spotted this trend of rising violence under the 

previous administration under the former Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis, [Sir] Bernard Hogan-

Howe QPM.  He sat there and told me that I was talking codswallop.  He said, “It’s not happening” because 

people were not dying but people in different age groups were being wounded by knife crimes.  The problem 

we have now is that it is not just younger people.  It is older people, too.  There was a time when we would 

have said, “If you are over 25 or 30, you can walk around.  It is not going to be you”.  That did not give me 

much comfort then and now it is different.  That is where we have some responsibility to think this through. 

 

Shall I move on to my next set of questions, Chairman? 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That was a perfect summation.  It is good to spend time on that number 
one subject, but it segues quite nicely into your subject. 
 
Len Duvall AM:  We are going to move into domestic violence and sexual offences with a set of questions to 
the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime following from your last contribution on 6 February 2019.   

 

There has been an important piece of research done by MOPAC on the reporting of domestic and sexual 

offences.  Deputy Mayor, do you think we are far from knowing the extent of what is going on with sexual and 

domestic offences in the capital?  Do you think we have bottomed it out now through the research, the 

important research, which, it should be recognised, you have commissioned? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime): We do have a better understanding of what is 

happening with the recorded and reported domestic offences and sexual offences.  Do we now know what is 

going on in London?  The figure that is always bandied around is 50% underreporting.  This does not deal with 

the underreporting issue.  This deals with the increase that we have seen in reporting.  It shows that a lot of 

the increase has been due to much better recording by the police.  Their crime data integrity is much better 

now. 

 

The worrying thing for me in this report was that it was not pointing to the confidence of victims to come 

forward and that is something that we do have to work on.  That would mean we will get to a proper 

understanding and reporting of the violence against women and girls that is happening.  We have also had 

other bits of evidence that MOPAC has commissioned.  The Sexual Violence Needs Assessment does show 

Page 40

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Commissioner_of_Police_of_the_Metropolis


 

 
 

what is happening in London.  It is an important piece of work.  The key takeaway for me, the thing that we do 

have to work on, is how we increase the confidence in reporting.  It is a complex issue. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  In the last budget, £15 million was set aside for some of this work.  Can you give the 

Committee a flavour of what proportion is likely to go to policing and what proportion is likely to go to the 

third sector for supporting activities?  This is an area where partnership working makes a difference and can 

add to the enforcement process by sharing information and monitoring.  Give us a breakdown of what you 

think that £15 million is going to be used for and how it will make a difference to women and girls. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime): The £15 million is for services for women and 

girls, for example, the rape centres and the havens.  It is very much about ensuring that when victims have 

come forward, the services they need are there, because numbers of offences are higher but funding is lower.  

We know, for example, that rape crisis centres are regularly closing their waiting lists.  One of the things that 

the funding will go towards is ensuring that the centres can reopen their waiting lists.   

 

I was at a meeting yesterday with a number of voluntary sector organisations that provide services in this area 

for women and girls, around making sure that we can get that money out quickly through the grant-making 

process that we already have with, for example, rape crisis centres.  A proportion of that funding will go 

straight to direct services.  Another proportion will be for community organisations to come forward and bid for 

and there is to be a competitive process around that to ensure that we are getting through to some 

organisations that I do not like to call harder to reach - because it is quite important to knock that on the head  

- on where the harder to reach people and the services are harder to reach.  A proportion of the funding will go 

to ensuring that we can continue with the sexual violence triage service that we have up and running.  It is an 

important service.  It is one place where, if you are a victim of sexual violence, you can call in and find services.  

We want to ensure that it continues.   

 

The budget funding allocation is about services, not about policing, although I am really clear that if you 

support victims and give them the support they need, you will also get a criminal justice outcome because part 

of the problem is that victims are not being supported properly through the process.  Another proportion of 

the money is to increase the numbers of Independent Sexual Violence Advisers (ISVAs) to advocate for and 

support victims through the criminal justice system. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  The Police and Crime Plan said this research would show whether interventions may drive 

down offending and increase confidence to report.  You have mentioned the confidence issue.  Did you reach 

any other conclusions from that report? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The report was very much about what is going on 

around the increase in reporting.  The research does not answer questions about what else we need to be 

doing.  Claire Waxman [London Victims’ Commissioner] is doing an important piece of work on the review of 

the Victims’ Code of Practice.  Clearly, that is not just about sexual violence and domestic violence and 

violence against women and girls, but a large proportion of the victims who have been surveyed and 

interviewed for Claire Waxman’s work is part of that core element we are talking about.  Her report should be 

coming out shortly and will be very important to understand what victims need to support them, what they are 

getting now, and what else needs to happen. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Along with that, will we also see some of the actions you will be promoting and asking of the 

police in terms of driving down offending and increasing reporting? 

 

Page 41



 

 
 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The other part of the work we are doing with the 

MPS around offending, we have money from the Home Office for the Drive project.  I went to visit it last week.  

The project is about working with high-risk perpetrators to get them to change their behaviour.  It is a 

programme in which Independent Domestic Violence Advisers (IDVAs) and ISVAs work with the survivor, the 

victim, and you have a case manager working with the perpetrator, and they work very closely together to 

make sure the victim is kept safe while also trying to address the behaviour of the perpetrator, so not just the 

enforcement side, but also working on long-term behaviour change.  That is an important piece of work.  

 

We also have the Multi Agency Stalking Intervention Programme, the National Stalking Centre, which I also 

visited.  It is an impressive piece of partnership work between the probation service, police and the Suzy 

Lamplugh Trust around protecting and supporting stalking victims and looking at how to change the 

perpetrators’ behaviours, as well as looking at how to spot the behaviour.  Stalking has been a part of a lot of 

domestic abuse, and some of the domestic homicide, and it needs to be picked up quickly and tackled quickly. 

 

I know that the Deputy Commissioner, if you ask him questions, will talk about the focus the MPS is putting on 

making sure that we can increase the arrest rate and the sanction detection rate around domestic abuse 

because the rates are not high enough and need to be much better.  That is a policing action, an operational 

matter.  As I have said before, however, the support of victims is also crucial.  When you look at the journey 

from the moment of abuse, you see attrition, drop-out, because victims are not being properly supported.  

IDVAs and ISVAs are very important in that journey. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  What measures are you using to assess the impact of your actions taken around the 

performance of the MPS, and other partners, that you may be giving money and support to?  Is there any 

thinking around that?  Of course, you have your regular meetings, you raise issues, and there are performance 

data.  Are there other areas within the women and girls work where you are thinking about what the interface 

looks like, over and above what you do in your day-to-day role in relation to the MPS and other partners, in 

saying, “Hold on.  If we really want to make a difference, we need to change”, or, “We need to do this”.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime): In the Police and Crime Plan we have a 

performance framework that very much focuses on repeat victimisation and repeat offending.  We want to look 

at the repeat victimisation rates and repeat offending rates.  There are some evaluation criteria within the 

allocation of the new money and the money that we have already allocated to victim services and services for 

violence against women and girls.  I do not have the criteria off the top of my head, but we do obviously need 

to evaluate.  We will not always be looking for a criminal justice outcome, because in many cases that is not 

what the victim wants; it is much more complicated than that even though a criminal justice outcome is itself 

very complex.  It is about keeping the victim safe and that is why repeat victimisation is an important area to 

focus on. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Deputy Commissioner, how does this research help the MPS to tackle these types of 
offence? 
 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It is extremely useful.  I would support 

everything the Deputy Mayor has just said around the protection of the victim and the inclusion of stalking in 

the debate. 

 

I have said this at meetings before: we do need to focus our effort on the immediate stabilisation of a situation 

that we are called to, the protection of the victim there and then but then we have to focus on making sure 

that the offender is properly dealt with.  Picking up on the thread that the Deputy Mayor started, we are well 

aware that our arrest rate at the scene is not high enough.  We have commissioned research on this, and I have 

Page 42



 

 
 

talked to the researcher.  You can draw a graph that clearly correlates the success rate of a successful 

prosecution and the time from the offence that the offender was arrested.  The longer it takes for us to arrest 

the offender, the chances of a successful prosecution fall away.  The chances fall away after 72 hours and the 

main reason for that is that the victim no longer wishes to support a prosecution, and that is to do with 

confidence.  It may also be to do with the dynamics of the relationship but that is often influenced by the 

victim’s fear.  Too often, the state has stepped in at the time, and then nothing has happened.  That is not 

good enough.  We need to raise our arrest rate. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  We have two points of referral.  It is either the 999 call or it is someone voluntarily trying to 

contact 101, saying, “I know someone, and this is the evidence”.  I understand the 999 call, the response call.  

Our officers have all been trained and told what to expect about that, over and above what has happened in 

the past, because they are carrying caseloads.  Then we have the capacity to work on more serious cases - it is 

hard to say that because they are all serious - whether they are sexual or domestic violence or abuse or the 

more complicated cases; maybe more complicated is the right word, rather than more serious.  We have had 

concerns around this table about the BCUs and about how they have been set up.  Is there enough flexibility to 

adapt with regard to modelling and how we cope with this work in sexual and domestic violence and domestic 

abuse, to pick up on this, where we do not see some of the peaks and troughs, depending on the flavour of 

the week about what we need to do?  There are priorities and everybody accepts that, but one of the issues in 

tackling these crimes is consistency.  Where is that consistency?  Who should we point to?  Who is watching 

that, as you roll out the BCUs? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  A number of people are watching.  It goes back 

to the issue of grip.  Ultimately, I am watching, because the Commissioner charges me with the performance 

management of the organisation, I am watching very closely and, to be candid, our detection rates and arrest 

rates on domestic abuse are not high enough at the moment.   

 

The BCUs are a move in the right direction as far as this matter is concerned.  They help with consistency 

because we are looking at 12 people pushing consistency rather than 32, which self-evidently is a good thing.  

In addition, those 12 people are in charge of much bigger units.  That means more flexibility, bringing the 

specialisms together into a safeguarding unit that is no longer saying, “Is it domestic abuse or is it rape?  Is 

there child abuse?”  That could be dealt with in three different areas by three different teams, which is not a 

great recipe for success.  The problem does need to be looked at as one problem by one team of people.  I 

believe the move is in the right direction.  Having said that, it will be reviewed.  Individual Borough 

Commanders do have latitude to shape and reshape their structures and put more or fewer resources in as they 

see fit in order to meet priorities in their areas.  We look at it from the centre.  Mark Simmons [Deputy 

Assistant Commissioner, MPS] looks at it.  We all pay attention to it. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Chairman, this might be something we might want to return to in future, because it is about 

more than just those crimes I mentioned.  I have a couple more very quick questions. 

 

Regarding the MPS dashboard, we now have 23 domestic homicides.  Last time you reported to the Committee 

there were 29 [domestic homicides] so that a reclassification must have taken place.  Can you write to the 

Committee with the most up to date figures and if there have been any changes in the classification, tell us 

why so that we can understand that.  They are moving figures.  We understand that.  I take your nod as 

agreement. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I will do that, yes. 

 

Page 43



 

 
 

Len Duvall AM:  Moving on very quickly to Clare’s Law [The Domestic Violence Disclosure Scheme], we know 

about the right to ask, but obviously the public does not know [about it], according to the figures for people 

asking.   

 

I am more interested in the right to know, the proactive part of Clare’s Law where the police contact people 

because they have concerns about where they are.  The last time you addressed this Committee, which was on 

6 February [2019], if I can paraphrase, you mentioned the grip and pace and better leadership, earlier arrests 

and outcomes, not just judicial outcomes, and you emphasised that there does have to be an outcome.  I 

believe you emphasised the 24/72-hour issue on these crimes.  That was quite crucial in terms of that police 

encounter.  Regarding the issues around the right to know, was the performance of the MPS last year in that 

period of time what drove you to get this consistency up around the right to know from different boroughs 

compared with what they have been doing? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It was not that specific issue; it was a range of 

issues.  I sound like a broken record again, but for me the key indicator is the arrest at the time and in what 

phase the arrest takes place.  I can completely understand that if the offender has left, the arrest cannot take 

place, but how quickly is the person tracked down.  I am looking at a range of issues. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  I understand that.  This is proactive policing, where the police have said a file has come 

across the desk and they have some information, there is a relationship somewhere, and they need to knock on 

a door, or pick up the phone, and talk to an individual and say, “Do you know about X?  This is what has 

happened in the past”.  This is proactive policing.  

 

If I told you that the range is between 0 and 70 of boroughs - I only have statistics for boroughs because I 

think you kept it at that for last year - only four boroughs have done over 25 of these proactive interventions 

and only seven boroughs have done between 10 and 25.  The numbers are poor, can only be poor, in a 

proactive response situation.  Then it comes back to Operation Dauntless, which is the centre of the proactive 

work [by the MPS].  At the back of proactive work, if I can round all the proactive working, where are we on 

Dauntless Plus?  Is there a narrative?  Can you give us a report about how successful Dauntless Plus has been?  

I have requested it for other issues.  They say it is there, but there seems to be a reluctance to share with us on 

that proactive front.  I believe operation Dauntless Plus is a superb operation.  Just to remind ourselves, this is 

the 500 individuals - there are more, but 500 - who have committed at least three domestic violence offences 

in three different boroughs.  It is a high threshold.  We need to keep reminding ourselves of that.  Where are 

we on that issue and what do you say to that? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I am sorry, but I cannot give the figures right 

now.  I am happy to let you have them and bring a report back, and also to bring a report back on Operation 

Athena, which is our latest step-up on domestic abuse and which is showing some results.  I have to say that I 

would like to see more results from it and we are looking at where we can drive greater success in that 

operation.  

 

Back to the point about the right to know, the inconsistency point, you raise is reinforcing what I have said, 

that the 32 boroughs moving to 12 is better, with bigger safeguarding units and a better approach across a 

number of crime types -- 

 

Len Duvall AM:  They will make the figures look better.  I am sorry.  I am being flippant on a very serious 

subject. 

 

Page 44



 

 
 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  No, you are right.  The move may mask local 

differences, but we will be holding BCU Commanders to account for that and we want her or him to be on top 

of that sort of problem. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Can we quickly turn to the issue of the Domestic Violence Protection Notices?  They are the 

ones that the police issue in these encounters.  Looking at the number of offences, it does seem that even 

though notices have been issued, there is a discrepancy with Domestic Violence Protection Orders (DVPOs), 

which involve judicial outcomes; a magistrate might advise me around those issues or not, of which 327 were 

issued.  Again, there is inconsistency across the MPS.  Given the number of offences, which within the 

reporting period that I am looking is 75,000 not a total of 85,000 per year, so it is part-year, was that one of 

the issues driving you in terms of the renewed effort in this area of work? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We are looking at a range of issues, which all 

indicate that there is more to be done on domestic abuse.  We have dropped to a certain level.  We need to 

push on beyond that level. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  On screening out, am I right in thinking there would be no screening out the crime, domestic 

violence in the immediate week; that if we asked for figures, I would find a number of crimes still on the system 

under active investigation beyond the period of time or will I find - I know it is not that 72 hours but a period 

of time - a certain period of time where they have been screened out as being for no further action, partly 

because we know it is a complex crime?  What I am trying to judge is if your managers, your officers at a local 

level, rush to screen out crime around domestic violence and abuse?  What advice have they been given? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  All I would pick up on definitely there is the use 

of the language.  They would not rush to screen out any domestic abuse.  They certainly should not do so.  I 

would expect to see a very mature thought process around screening out.   

 

Terminology here.  I would not expect to see any domestic abuse cases screened out because screening out 

means we are not going to investigate that.  That is not the position with domestic abuse.  If an allegation 

comes in on 101, would we screen it out?  No.  It should be recorded and we should investigate it.  If it is 

investigated and we feel that there are no further lines that we can take, then the case would be closed.  That 

is not the same as screening out.  There is a difference.  There is a genuine difference.  Screening out means 

there are no investigative opportunities for us to follow.  

 

Len Duvall AM:  Will you write to us about what the process should be at local level? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Yes, sure. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  And the same for sexual crimes?  We would like to think there was something that would 

refer it back, that there would be an extra mile first, and that there is a process where you look at whether 

there is a cluster of crimes, or other crimes, being committed.    

 

Lastly, back to the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime.  Our understanding is that the Mayor in his budget 

has also set aside, outside the £15 million, a sum of money that would be for further research of value for 

money.  It follows on from the 2009 report of the Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) on the terms of 

the abusers list, so it would be upgraded.  As the money is outside MOPAC and located within the Mayor’s 

office, will you be fully involved in that? 

 

Page 45



 

 
 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime): It is outside of the £15 million.  It is not outside 

MOPAC. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  So you will be involved? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, it is not part of the £15 million. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  My last question to the Deputy Commissioner.  Last time, your concerns around how you 

manage the numbers on the abusers list were quite interesting.  Are they not the same, however, for sexual 

offenders, and the numbers on that list, and how you categorise risk?  Are they not the same, in the sense that 

if you follow a similar process of risk assessment about who is likely to be more of a threat than others to our 

society?  Is that not the same issue?  You seem to manage it with varying degrees of success although there is 

sometimes the odd failure.  Why could we not do the same for those who reoffend on the domestic violence 

issue? 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  As briefly as you can, Sir. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I will try to be very brief. 

 

Under the heading of our concerns with the concept of a domestic abuse register the comment is: 

“Police resources are currently stretched.  Our experience of managing registered sex offenders reveals 

that the managed cohort and resources required continues to grow year on year.  Without significant 

and continually growing investment, the resources required to support a register would need to be taken 

from other policing.” 

 

To your point exactly: 

 

“Our learning from the sexual offenders’ register suggests to us that if a domestic abuse register is 

created, it will grow and grow and grow.” 

 

That would be a good thing because we would know more about it, but the public expectation is that we 

would be able to manage it and deal with every single case, and I, frankly, believe that we do not have the 

resources for that, and that it is already a stretch for us at this moment in time.  That is what the learning is 

saying. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  As someone doing scrutiny of you, I do not expect you to manage every sexual offender.  

What I expect you to manage is the most dangerous, and that is what you should be doing.  

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  That is what the small amount of money has 

been set aside for, to work those issues through. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We have two more brief questions on this subject and then I will tell the 

Committee what we are going to do. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  This is a brief question for the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime.  I want something 
from the report to be clarified.  The conclusion of the research seems to be, I am quoting: 
 

“Changes to police activities, compliance with standards and changes to Home Office rules for county 

crime are most likely to have the largest impact on the level of crimes.” 

Page 46



 

 
 

 

As reported in The Evening Standard, this rise of 134% in rape, I am to take that as being entirely down, 

therefore, to these factors.  Is that right? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  My reading of the report is that the vast 

improvement the MPS has, and Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services has 

recently written a report on how crime data integrity, which is how they record the crime, has been a large part 

of the contribution towards the fact that the recorded instances have gone up.  It is because of data integrity, 

much better recording, that we have an increase in recording of sexual offences and sexual violence.  It is not 

so much what we thought it would be, which was the increased confidence of victims to come forward.  That is 

the really worrying bit about this report for me. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  I do see that, from what the crime survey found; that there was no real change in 

confidence in coming forward.  I see that. 

 

It does seem astonishing to me that this extraordinary increase, 134%, to March last year, is entirely down to 

better police recording. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime): The research is saying that the vast majority of 

the increase is down to better police recording.  It also says that they found an increase in historical cases.  You 

can also see the influence of Operation Yewtree and some of the #MeToo campaigns coming through, that 

there has been some increase in reporting.  However, in terms of the original hypothesis that this was about 

increasing confidence, it is more complicated.  It is more about the better recording by the police.  We have a 

job to do, therefore, because we know that there is underreporting going on, a job to do in increasing victims’ 

confidence to come forward. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  One final, practical point, in terms of the way I read it.  You talk about sexual offences, 

domestic abuse, and rape in one report.  Rape should be on its own, that future consideration of these things 

should maybe be separated out a little.  It seems to be all bundled in and something like rape, particularly, is a 

heinous crime.  They are all heinous crimes of course, but you understand what I mean.  Somehow rape should 

not just be thrown in with this lot.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime): It is not ‘thrown in’ at all.  

 

Peter Whittle AM:  When I saw your researchers, they were not specifically looking at rape.  They said, “Yes, 

we will include that”.  That was when I saw them last year, do you remember?  Finally, they deigned to come 

and see us and basically they said, “Yes, we were not going to go into rape”.  They did go into rape, but rape 

should be on its own.  Will you respond to that point? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime): I do take your point but rape is not ‘thrown in’.  

The report is looking at the breadth of sexual offences and domestic abuse.  If we do not get to the bottom of 

why women are not coming forward to report domestic abuse - we all know domestic abuse can escalate and 

we know something about the lack of reporting.  The increase in homicides is also incredibly important.  We 

have to make sure that we focus on risk and rape is one the most awful crimes.  The [London] Victims’ 

Commissioner is doing two really good pieces of work at the moment, one on the Code of Practice for Victims 

of Crime and the other one is a deep dive into rape cases, to understand why, where victims have come 

forward, their cases are not going through, why there is such an appallingly low level of perpetrators being 

brought to justice. 

Page 47



 

 
 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Let us move on.  The answer to the question a year ago was, “We do not know if 

something is going on with sexual offending in London”.  Now you do know.  It is all down to recording. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime): The report says you cannot dismiss the impact of 

Operation Yewtree and the #MeToo campaign on women coming forward, but a large proportion, the report 

says, is also about data integrity, the police recording data in a much better way, which is good.  That is a 

positive finding. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Recent statistics show that there is a worrying increase in instances of parental abuse, 

particularly in relation to daughters attacking their parents.  Has any research been commissioned to look into 

reasons behind this? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I have the same information.  Again, it is not a 

crime type, so it would come within domestic abuse in the broad definition England and Wales have of 

domestic abuse, because it is within a family.  We would have to do some research to split that out, to look at 

it, but I agree that the figures are very concerning and we are looking at it. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Can we look at doing some research into it through MOPAC?  It is on an upward trend. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime): Yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  OK.  Thank you very much. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  OK, I will tell you what we are going to do.  Sian [Berry AM], the Grenfell 

question is for you because I know you need to ask that before we are out of time.  What we are then going to 

do, I thought, on the EU exit [questions], is that Unmesh [Desai AM] is going to write to you and post it 

around.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  I would like to raise two issues about the EU exit. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We have not reached that yet.  I am just painting a very brief picture of 

what we are going to do.   

 

I am going to be writing to you on the MPS Partnership Plus scheme because there is some disappointment 

from boroughs about the new deal.  We do not have time for this because of the reasons we just exercised.  

What I would like to do is take the Grenfell question. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  We wanted to ask for an update on the Grenfell Tower fire inquiry, including how far you are 

getting with the potential to make arrests and how many people you have interviewed under caution. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I cannot give you a specific answer to that 

question.  I can give you some background.  The MPS is progressing, as you would expect.  The investigation is 

still resourced with 179 dedicated police officers and staff.  The investigation is focused on four main areas: 

construction of the building; refurbishment of the building; management of the tower itself; the emergency 

response on the evening of the fire. 

 

Page 48



 

 
 

We are working very closely with the Grenfell Tower Inquiry, which you will know has finished its phase one 

public hearing related to the events of the day. 

 

In terms of moving forward, there is still a significant amount of work to be done.  We will work very closely 

with the CPS to get its advice prior to our making any arrests, if any are made, in relation to this matter. 

 

All that excludes the investigation into fraud that has gone alongside it.  That is a subset of what I am talking 

about here but we are working very closely with the CPS.  Before we are in a position to decide whether there 

is sufficient evidence to seek a charging decision, we talk to the CPS and work hand in glove with them. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  To clarify, you said there were four areas: construction; refurbishment; management; the 

emergency response.  Are those all areas where you are effectively proceeding towards potential criminal 

charges still? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  They are all areas that we are investigating.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  This is the exact situation we had about six months ago and you know why I am asking this 

question, because it is now a year and three quarters now since the fire and people are wondering when we will 

see some significant steps taken forward in the investigation.  With regard to the CPS, have you already gone 

back to them with any potential charges? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We are in constant debate.  The CPS has people 

embedded in our investigation team so it is not a case of going back to the CPS with it.  We are constantly 

talking to them about it.  We are also phasing our investigation with the Grenfell Tower inquiry.  I know you 

understand this.  It is a case where we are seeking evidence and the inquiry is seeking evidence.  We have to be 

very careful about how that is choreographed so we work very closely.  The Detective Superintendent [Matt 

Bonner], who leads the work day to day, and Commander Stuart Cundy, is the person overseeing the whole 

thing, ultimately reporting to me.  I appreciate that it appears to people to be very slow, but we are in constant 

conversation with the families of victims, with the survivors, and with those people affected.  There is another 

public meeting between the police and that group tonight.  We want to move forward with the group’s support 

but we also need to move forward with the support of the CPS, to make sure that we do not in any way 

jeopardise the Grenfell Tower Inquiry itself.  It is a complicated, choreographed undertaking. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I can see that.  Three of the areas you mentioned are in the second phase of the inquiry, so 

presumably you are waiting for some information to become public before you can act.  Is that more or less 

accurate? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  I would not commit to that exactly. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Your resourcing is the other question.  We saw a few weeks ago that the claim that had been 

made for Grenfell Tower special payments from the Government for your investigation was not paid out in full 

for the second year in a row, despite all your other claims for special funding being agreed.  This year it was 

15% less than what you asked for.  Does this have an impact on the inquiry or are you making up the 

difference? 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  It has no impact on the investigation at all. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  It maintains the same level of resourcing. 

Page 49



 

 
 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  We have not reduced resourcing as a result of 

that reduction, or lack of full payment. No.  We have kept it at the same level.  

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is just a problem for other areas. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  Effectively, the person in charge of the 

investigation gets the resources they say they need.  They are getting those resources.  There has been no 

reduction.  The investigation has not been impacted by the reduction. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Good, but that is £2.1 million less somewhere else in the MPS, effectively. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM (Deputy Commissioner, MPS):  That is the knock-on effect, yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you very much. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Unmesh, did you want to touch on the EU exit question and what you are 

going to do about it? 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  We have a number of questions for the Deputy Commissioner, MPS in 

particular, but we can write to you.  I want specifically to write to you about the rising hate crime that is 

expected and also about your colleague Deputy Assistant Commissioner, Neil Basu’s warnings about extremist 

forces and in particular about extreme-right extremism, although he did talk about other kinds of extremism, 

that could exploit Brexit tensions.  I will put that in writing. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We will be writing.  A letter will be sent on EU exit, although that will be 

an item that is on this agenda every time, because of the way it is developing. 

 

I will be writing to you about local policing and the MPS Partnership Plus scheme.  I will be consulting party 

Group Lead Members and to give you an idea of opinions around it, I have the opinion that it is disappointing, 

but I do not want an exchange at this moment. 

 

The last question, which we are not covering, is around engagement.  We have had the Chairs of Safer 

Neighbourhood Boards and Safer Neighbourhood Panels in here recently and had a good exchange with them.  

We do want particularly to have a discussion with you, Deputy Mayor, around some of the feedback we had 

from them. 

 

We also understand that MOPAC and the MPS are looking at engagement and working up an engagement plan 

that we are not sighted on.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime): You have been written to twice, offering twice to 

give you a briefing on it.  We have had no response. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We are going to take you up on it.  I am not going to enter into a debate 

about it.  We are going to arrange a meeting with you, at the soonest availability, in the coming weeks. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime): Very happy to do that. 

 

Page 50



 

 
 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is a given.  On that subject, I have just been passed on Twitter - and 

I do not believe everything on Twitter - that the Home Office has asked forces to work up bids for extra 

resources.  That is just something in the Twittersphere.  That will be confirmed a good deal later. 

 

I would like to thank guests for coming along this morning.  It has been a very good meeting. 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  
 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 30 April 2019 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out for noting actions arising from previous meetings of the Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and ongoing actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee, as listed in the report. 

 

 

Meeting of 6 March 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS)  

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to 

provide: 

 An update on the Knife Crime Executive 

Board, including recent discussions and 

actions; and 

 A written briefing on the actions contained 

in the London boroughs’ Knife Crime Action 

Plans. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed – see 

letter attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

Mayor’s Office for 

Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) 

Page 53

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 In addition, the Deputy Mayor for Policing was 

asked to respond to the following questions:  

 

EU Exit 

 Where does EU Exit sit on MOPAC’s risk 

register?  

 

  

 The Met’s ‘PartnershipPlus’ scheme 

 One of the reasons given for the review of 

the scheme is the pressures on borough 

budgets. Has there been evidence of 

boroughs pulling out of the current scheme 

on financial grounds? 

 How many boroughs have registered an 

interest in the new scheme?  

  

 
Additionally, a briefing will be arranged with 

MOPAC and MPS on Community engagement. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Up to date figures for domestic homicides, 

and an explanation of any changes in the 

classification in relation to the figures; 

 Updates on Operation Dauntless Plus and 

Operation Athena, which were tackling 

domestic abuse;  

 

 

In progress – the 

Chairman wrote to 

the Deputy 

Commissioner on 

14 March 2019. 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

  Figures on the MPS’s use of “Right to 

Know” under Clare’s Law; and 

 An explanation of the differences in the 

process at a local level for recording and 

investigating allegations of domestic abuse 

and then closing those cases when there are 

no further lines and screening out alleged 

crimes. 

 

  

Page 54



 

 

 In addition, the Deputy Commissioner was 

requested to respond to the following questions: 

 

EU Exit 

 Is the MPS fully prepared for any additional 

operational pressures resulting from the 

UK’s exit from the Europe Union? 

 What preparations have been made in 
terms of abstractions, cancellation of rest 
days, and mutual aid? 

  

 
 Where does EU Exit sit on the MPS’s risk 

register?  

 In July 2018, HM Inspectorate of 

Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services 

released a report called ‘Understanding the 

Difference’ which was about police forces 

response to hate crime.  The report stated:  

‘We have shown in our report that incidents 

of hate crime ‘spike’ after national events. 

So there is a real possibility that there will be 

a similar increase in reports in 2019 if, as is 

anticipated by the government, the United 

Kingdom formally leaves the European 

Union. Police forces should prepare for this 

eventuality and make sure that the 

recommendations in this report are used in 

the future to improve the police response to 

hate crime victims.’ 

 Do you share the concerns of the 

Inspectorate that there is a real risk of a rise 

in hate crime and if so, what are you doing 

to prepare for this?  

  

 
 What are the contingencies which are in 

place to replace these EU tools?  Is the MPS 

satisfied that it can operate effectively 

under these arrangements? 

 Have MPS officers been trained to use these 

new contingency procedures?   

  

Page 55



 

 

 
The Met’s ‘PartnershipPlus’ scheme 

 You have set out details of a new scheme, 

the PartnershipPlus scheme, to replace the 

current Met PatrolPlus scheme. Why have 

you chosen this new scheme and what other 

options were considered? 

 One of the reasons given for the review of 

the scheme is the pressures on borough 

budgets. Has there been evidence of 

boroughs pulling out of the current scheme 

on financial grounds? 

 How many officers will be affected by 

changes to the scheme? 

 Prior to this announcement the Mayor said 

that officers coming to the end of Met 

Patrol Plus contracts would be reallocated 

to duties within the Basic Command Unit.  Is 

that going to be the case for officers who 

do not transfer over to the new scheme? 

 Where Met Patrol Plus officers do not 

continue under the new scheme, will they 

be retained in the BCU in which they 

currently operate? 

 How many boroughs have registered an 

interest in the new scheme? 

 

  

    

Page 56



 

 

7 Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme 

 

The Committee resolved: 

 

(a) That authority be delegated to the 

Chairman, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to approve the 

output from the Committee’s scrutiny on 

tackling neighbourhood crimes. 
 

(b) That, in relation to urgent matters only, a 

general delegation of authority in respect of 

the Committee’s powers and functions 

(apart from those that cannot under the 

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 

2011 be delegated) to the Chairman of the 

Committee, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM. 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed – see 

Agenda Item 5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This delegation 

was not used. 

 

 

 

Meeting of 12 February 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

4. 

 

 

 

 

 

Safer Neighbourhood Boards and Ward 

Panels 

 

The Committee agreed to delegate authority to 

the Chairman, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to 

agree any output from the discussion. 

 

 

 

 

In progress  

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



 

 

Meeting of 6 February 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Share calendar-year data for the sanction 

detection rates for murder in London;  

 Provide the number of police officers who had 

received unconscious bias training and update 

the Committee on the impact of that training; 

 Provide the percentage of complaints that had 
been withdrawn after seeing body-worn videos; 

 Provide the number of complaints that were 
being upheld after the viewing of body-worn 
video, compared to those that were upheld 
before its introduction; and 

 Provide an update on any progress since the 
MPS tested predictive crime mapping software 
in 2016. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 26 March 

 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to: 

 Provide the names of the final interview panel 

for the post of Director of the Violence 

Reduction Unit;  

 Update the Committee on the budget and any 

proposals for information management and 

technology that might be used in the future to 

help crime prevention and policing; 

 Provide a copy of the action plan in response 

to HMICF&RS and HMIP’s recent inspection of 

MPS custody suites, which identified issues 

with strategic oversight of healthcare and use 

of force in custody, once that plan had been 

completed; and 

 Update the Committee on the development of 

a pan-London protocol for the overnight 

detention of children. 

 

Completed: see 

letter attached at 

Appendix 2. 

MOPAC 

Page 58



 

 

Meeting of 23 January 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

4. 

 

 

 

 

 

Stop and Search 

 

During the course of the discussion, Neena 

Samota, undertook to: 

 

 Evidence of the disproportionate impact on 

BAME groups of stop and searches under 

Section 60 of the Police and Criminal Evidence 

Act 1994 and evidence of Section being used 

without good reason. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – the 

Deputy Chair 

wrote to Neena 

Samota on 

30 January 2019.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Neena Samota 

 

 

 

 

 The Committee agreed to delegate authority to 

the Chairman, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to 

agree any output from the discussion.  

 

In progress Scrutiny Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 10 January 2019 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Update the Committee on the outcome of the 

Crown Prosecution Service examinations into 

three test cases related to demonstrations 

outside Parliament in the run up to the exit 

from the European Union;   

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 26 March 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Brief the Committee in due course on the 

MPS’s examination of the use of “released 

under investigation” and bail measures, in the 

context of recent legislation;  

 Confirm the number of detectives currently 

employed by the MPS; 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



 

 

 
 Confirm whether the Equality Impact 

Assessment on the Gangs Matrix has been 

completed and if not, when it will be expected 

to be completed; 

 Inform the Committee about how the mental 

health investigation teams were helping 

frontline police officers deal with demand 

arising from persons with mental health issues; 

and 

 Confirm with the Committee the procedures for 

collecting data about sexual harassment within 

the MPS.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

7 Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the 

Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to make 

arrangements for site visits to the Metropolitan 

Police Marine Policing Unit and a police custody 

suite. 

 

 

 

 

In progress. 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Manager 

 
Meeting of 12 December 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the 

Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree 

the scope for the Committee’s thematic meetings 

in January, February and March 2019. 

 

 

 

 

Completed – see 

report at Agenda 

Item 5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



 

 

Meeting of 29 November 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the 

Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis and 

Assistant Commissioner, MPS, undertook to 

provide: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

  A breakdown by borough where section 60 had 

been applied borough-wide during 2018; 

 

Completed.  This 

has recently been 

answered through 

a response to a 

Mayor’s Question. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 The materials that the MPS provided to schools 

to educate young people about their rights in 

relation to stop and searches both under 

section 1 of the Police and Criminal Evidence 

Act 1984 and section 60 of the Criminal Justice 

and Public Order Act 1994; 

 The number of complaints the MPS had 

received in relation to section 60 stop and 

searches; 

 

 

Partially 

completed: the 

PACE part has 

recently been 

answered through 

a response to a 

Mayor’s Question. 

Completed.  This 

has recently been 

answered through 

a response to a 

Mayor’s Question. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  A briefing on how the MPS used section 60s; Completed: the 

Committee 

discussed the use 

of section 60 at 

Q&A meetings on 

6 March 2019 and 

6 February 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



 

 

 

Meeting of 31 October 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

7. Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to make arrangements 

for site visits to Metropolitan Police Service Basic 

Command Units.  

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to make arrangements 

for a site visit to the Metropolitan Police Service’s 

Mounted Branch.  

 

 

 

 

In progress. 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed - see 

report at Agenda 

Item 5.  

 

 

 

Scrutiny Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Manager 

 

 

Meeting of 4 October 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) and the Metropolitan Police 

Service (MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner undertook to provide: 

 An estimate, when available, of the cost of 

running the Airwave contract and the delayed 

Emergency Services Network (ESN) contract 

simultaneously, as part of a phased 

implementation of ESN; 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

was made on 26 

March 2019. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

Page 62



 

 

 
 Findings, when available, for the reasons in the 

increase in 999 calls both nationally and in 

London. 

  

 The Committee also requested a response to the 

following question on antisocial behaviour: 

 

What progress has there been in assessing the 

Antisocial Behaviour Warning Notice Scheme in 

Tower Hamlets and piloting it in the Central North 

area? 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 5 September 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Metropolitan Police  

 

During the course of the discussion the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to: 

 Inform the Committee of the anticipated 

savings from the disposals of police stations 

and police front counters during this financial 

year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 

26 March 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MOPAC 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



 

 

 During the course of the discussion the 

Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis 

undertook to: 

 Confirm the number of police officers who 

had to go to hospital because they were spat 

at or bitten during the Notting Hill Carnival; 

 Provide a briefing on the evaluation of the 

pilot of the use of spit guards in custody 

suites; and 

 Provide the number of police officers who 

were injured during New Year’s Eve 2017. 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on  

26 March 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed: the 

data has been 

provided for the 

number of police 

officers injured 

month by month 

through a response 

to a Mayor’s 

Question. 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 4 July 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Metropolitan Police  

 

During the course of the discussion, the 

Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), 

undertook to provide: 

 Information in respect of the number of 

people detained as a result of the automated 

facial recognition pilot; 

 

 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 26 March 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



 

 

  Confirmation of whether Transport for 
London’s cameras at Stratford Station were 
used in the automated facial recognition pilot; 

 Confirmation as to whether the MPS shared 

any intelligence with South Wales Police to 

help them compile their watchlist around 

organised crime groups linked to music 

festivals. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 6 June 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Metropolitan Police  

 

During the course of the discussion, the Assistant 

Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), 

undertook to provide: 

 Evidence that showed the linkage between 

drug use and violent crime; 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed: the 

Committee has 

discussed the 

linkages during its 

scrutiny 

investigation on 

tackling violent 

crime in London. 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 An update on the length of time the MPS was 

taking to examine forensically material relating 

to child exploitation cases; and 

 The number of times the MPS had applied for 

extensions of police bail in the last year, and 

how many individuals this accounted for. 

 

 

In progress – a 

follow up request 

for the action was 

made on 26 March 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

Page 65



 

 

Meeting of 15 May 2018 

 

Minute 

item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and 

Metropolitan Police Service 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Assistant 

Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), 

undertook to provide: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 
 Information about how the MPS ensures that it 

communicated with individuals, as well as 

community groups, in order to build the 

intelligence picture when it deployed the 

Violent Crime Task Force to an area; 

 

In progress - a 

follow up request 

was made on 

26 March 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

  Confirmation of how many trials concerning 

rape and serious sexual assault had been 

abandoned in the last year;  

 Confirmation of how many rape and serious 

sexual assault cases where a decision still 

needed to be made as whether to abandon the 

trial or not; 

 Confirmation of how many harassment and 

how many fraud cases had been reviewed; 

 Confirmation as to whether any of the 

harassment and fraud cases, which had been 

reviewed for disclosure, had been abandoned 

as a result and how many decisions remained to 

be taken; and 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Information about the ways new recruits were 

assessed to ensure that officers are suitable to 

work with London’s diverse communities. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 66



 

 
 
Complaints about the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 
(DMPC) 

 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

Deadline, 

if 

applicable  

Complaints about the Mayor's 

Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Deputy Mayor for Policing and  

Crime (DMPC) 

   

The Committee agreed, inter alia, to 

delegate to the Monitoring Officer all of 

the powers and functions conferred on 

it by the Elected Local Policing Bodies 

(Complaints and Misconduct) 

Regulations, with the exception of the 

functions set out at Part 4 of the 

Regulations which may not be 

delegated; and guidance on the 

handling of complaints which requires 

the Monitoring Officer to report, on a 

regular basis, the summary details (such 

as can be reported in public), on the 

exercise of any and all of these 

functions to the Committee for 

monitoring purposes. 

 

 

No disclosures to report for 

the period from  

25 February 2019 to  

17 April 2019.  

Monitoring 

Officer 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Transparency Procedure    

The Committee agreed Members 

disclose to the Executive Director of 

Secretariat or his nominated 

representative (within 28 days of 

the contact) details of any significant 

contact with the MPS and/or MOPAC 

which they consider to be relevant to 

the work of the Committee; and such 

disclosures be reported to the next 

meeting of the Committee. 

 

No disclosures to report for 

the period from  

1 February 2019 to  

17 April 2019. 

 

 

Executive 

Director of 

Secretariat 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 67



 

 

3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1   The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

 

Appendix 1 – Letter from the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime to the Chairman, dated 10 April 2019. 

 

Appendix 2 - Letter from the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime to the Chairman, dated 28 March 2019. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer  

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

  
 

 

 
 
 

Page 68

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 69



Page 70



 

 

 
Local Knife Crime Action Plans  

 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP KNIFE CRIME AND SERIOUS VIOLENCE ACTION PLANS 
 

REVIEW AND SUMMARY OF KEY FINDING 
 

 
Introduction 
 
This briefing sets out a summary of key issues and areas of good practice identified by 
MOPAC, the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) and London Councils, from reviewing all 31 
action plans. Showing positive engagement with the programme across London.  While the 
majority of plans are completed in an individual borough basis, two boroughs submitted a 
single BCU plan, as a result there are a total of 31 action plans.   
 
The action plans were initially compiled and refined in close partnership working between 
local authorities, MOPAC, the MPS and London Councils.  While on an ongoing basis 
Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) continue to progress the actions within their plans. 
 
Summary of Action Plans 
 
All action plans use the same templated action plan format developed by MOPAC, that 
include a Governance section, which sets out strategic leaders and partner organisations 
working on the plan, as well as the key strategic meetings to oversee and drive delivery. 
 
There are six further sections looking at Targeting Lawbreakers, Keeping Deadly Weapons 
Off Our Streets, Protecting and Educating Young People, Standing Together with 
Communities and Families, Supporting Victims and Offering Ways Out of Crime.  
 
The use of a single template for action plans helps to identify innovative new action and 
good practice by CSPs that can then be shared with colleagues across London. The action 
plans are owned by and the responsibility of the CSP’s. 
 
Overall the standard of action plans has been good, with a clear governance structure, 
comprehensive actions that have documented outcomes, named action owners, timescales 
and comprehensive comments.  A key aim of the exercise is to positively identify areas for 
improvement, so where these have been identified advice has been provided.  
 

Page 71



 

Many CSP’s have taken the opportunity to use the process to honestly review existing 
practice, in some cases planning a programme of reviews over the coming year. There are 
some refreshingly honest assessments of areas requiring improvement or gaps where new 
work needs to be undertaken. Importantly in many cases the CSP’s have set out activity to 
rectify gaps, with lead officers and timescales. 
 
In the strongest action plans there is clear and extensive involvement of all CSP partners, 
with actions owned by a range of partners, including the police, community safety and 
youth offending teams.  As well as public health, housing, adult and children’s social care, 
education, alongside the voluntary sector and community sector who have also been 
involved.  
 
These plans not only have a wide-ranging set of enforcement actions targeting offenders, 
they also contain comprehensive trading standards and business involvement in keeping 
deadly weapons of the street and utilising communities and resident associations in 
weapons sweeps.  
 
Protecting and Educating Young People in these plans involve a wide range of actions 
relating to places of education, including strong universal provision through named 
programmes and providers. Importantly the best plans also set out Children’s Social Care 
and Youth service actions that focus on pre-conviction and early years prevention. 
 
In strong plans, there is a comprehensive range of activity that involves communities as 
partners or plans to do so, recognising this as a critical asset in the response the prevention 
of violence. There are examples of good practice in supporting victims and good plans have 
extensive actions offering ways out of crime for both young people and adults, with in some 
cases services configured to ensure a seamless transition from youth to adult rehabilitation. 
 
Areas of Good Practice and Challenge 
 
As these plans are based on partnership working, it would not be appropriate for MOPAC to 
mandate specific actions for partner local authorities.  However, MOPAC, the MPS and 
London Councils play a crucial role in identifying a range of good practice examples that 
CSPs are keenly encouraged to adopt.  Areas of good practice include: 
 

• Development of a joint police/LA intelligence hub; 

• A community safety risk index that analyses risk through assessment of police, 
community safety, Children’s Social Care and social media data; 

• A youth co-operative that assesses intelligence and tensions to give a young person’s 
perspective on community tensions; 

• A bespoke adolescents support service for Looked After Children; 

• Developing a single CSP approved menu of school lessons/interventions to raise 
awareness of knife crime risks, thereby avoiding duplication and enabling signposting 
of providers; 

• Local mediation scheme between individual young people in dispute; 

• Transition plan between Primary and Secondary school. 
 

Page 72



 

Furthermore, in MOPAC’s convening capacity, working with the MPS and London Councils, 
through this process we are able to help and link up local authorities, who have particular 
good practice, expertise or experience in given interventions, with other authorities who 
may have identified areas for development. 
 
 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 74



Appendix 2

Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



 

                                                                                                                                    

 

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 
 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 30 April 2019  

This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report outlines recent action taken by the Chairman of the Police and Crime Committee in 

accordance with the delegated authority granted to him by the Police and Crime Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chairman of the Police and 

Crime Committee under delegated authority, following consultation with the party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to agree: 

 

(a)  A letter to the Mayor on tackling neighbourhood crime; 

 

(b) The arrangements for the Committee’s site visit to the Metropolitan Police 

Service’s Mounted Branch at Lewisham Police Station on 20 March 2019; and 

 

(c) The scope for the discussion with the Director of the Violence Reduction Unit at 

this meeting of the Committee.  

 

2.2 That the Committee notes the letter to the Mayor on tackling neighbourhood crime, as 

attached at Appendix 1 to this report, and the summary of the site visit as set out in 

paragraph 4.4 of this report. 

  

 

3. Background  
 

3.1 On 19 November 2018 Members visited Tower Hamlets to meet with Safer Neighbourhood Board 

(SNB), Ward Panel and Victim Support representatives to talk about the impact of borough 

priorities.  Seven crimes, including burglary, robbery and theft, make up close to half of all crime 

recorded by the MPS.  The Police and Crime Plan put in place a system of ‘borough priorities’ to  

Page 81

Agenda Item 5



        

 tackle these types of crimes, in which every borough picks two crimes from the seven and focuses 

efforts on tackling them.  The Committee also sought the views of other SNB and Ward Panel 

representatives to find out how well understood the priority setting process is; and discussed the 

difference that borough priorities can make with the MPS and MOPAC. 

 

3.2 The Committee followed that visit with a delegation to the Chairman on 6 March 2019, by resolving: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to approve the output from the Committee’s scrutiny on tackling 

neighbourhood crimes. 

 

3.3 From time to time the Committee undertakes site visits to inform Members of aspects of policing in 

London.  At the Committee’s meeting on 31 October 2018, the Committee resolved: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to make arrangements for a site visit to the Metropolitan Police Service’s 

Mounted Branch.  

 

3.4 At its meeting on 12 December 2018, the Committee resolved: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree the scope for the Committee’s thematic meetings in January, 

February and March 2019. 

 

3.5 At its meeting on 6 March 2019, the Committee noted its updated work programme, including the 

use of the Committee’s meeting slot on 20 March 2019 for informal activity and the scheduling of a 

thematic meeting on 30 April 2019 for a discussion on tackling violence in London. 

 

 
4. Issues for Consideration 
 

 Tackling Neighbourhood Crimes 

 

4.1 Following consultation with the lead party Group Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, the 

Chairman sent the letter to the Mayor on tackling neighbourhood crimes on 19 March 2019.  The 

letter is attached at Appendix 1 for Members to note. 

 
4.2 In the letter, the Committee recommended that the Mayor reviews the effectiveness of local priority 

setting including:  

 An assessment of how wider changes, such as the introduction of the crime investigation 

policy, more telephone investigations and the increase in the volume and complexity of crime, 

may be impacting on the success of local priorities, and how this can be mitigated. 

 An assessment of falling victim satisfaction in the Met’s response to these most commonly-

reported crimes, and how this will be addressed. 

 Specific actions to improve transparency of data, such as sanction detection rates, which can 

be used to assess the success of this approach and the potential impact on crimes not selected 

as local priorities. 

Page 82



        

 Specific actions to improve the awareness and understanding of Londoners about the 

rationale, aims, and measures for the success of local priorities. 

 

 Site Visit to the Metropolitan Police Service’s (MPS) Mounted Branch  

4.3 Following consultation with the party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, the 

Chairman agreed the arrangements for the Committee’s visit to the MPS’s Mounted Branch at 

Lewisham Police Station on 20 March 2019. 

  
 The following Members attended the visit: 

 Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman) 

 Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair) 

 Tony Arbour AM 

 Andrew Dismore AM 

 Florence Eshalomi AM 

 Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

 

4.4 Members were met by representatives of the MPS.  Members received a presentation from MPS 

officers of the Mounted Branch detailing the work of the Unit and a tour of the stables.   

 

 Tackling Violence in London 

4.5 Following consultation with the party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, the 

Chairman agreed that this meeting would be used for a discussion with Lib Peck, the Director of the 

Violence Reduction Unit.  The report at Agenda Item 7 gives more information on this item. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1  The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

 

Appendix 1 – Letter from the Chairman to the Mayor dated 19 March 2019 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: Member Delegated Authority forms: 1045 (letter on tackling neighbourhood 

crime); 1016 (site visit); and 1032B (scope for meeting on 30 April 2019) 

 

Contact Officer: Teresa young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 83

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84



Appendix 1

Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 
 

 

Subject: Response to the Committee’s Letter 
on a New Model for Preventing Violence in 
London 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 30 April 2019 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 

 

1. Summary  

 

1.1 The Committee is asked to note the response from the Mayor to its letter on a new model for 

preventing violence in London. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the response from the Mayor to its letter on a new model for 

preventing violence in London, as attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 

 

 

3. Background   
  

3.1 On 24 May 2018, the Committee used its thematic meeting for a discussion with invited guests on 

tackling the rise of violent crime in London.  The Committee also put questions on violent crime in 

London to the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service at its 

monthly question and answer sessions.  The Committee also held a community roundtable, 

facilitated by Hackney CVS, on 24 July 2018 and an open microphone session at its thematic 

meeting on 20 September 2018.  The Committee visited Birmingham and the West Midlands on 

7 September 2018 to observe a comparable police force’s approach to enforcement, intervention 

and prevention activity to tackle violence. 

 

3.2 Following the conclusion of that scrutiny investigation, the Chairman wrote to the Mayor on 

13 December 2018.  The letter is here1. 

 

3.3 The Committee welcomed the Mayor’s establishment of a Violence Reduction Unit (VRU), and the 

move toward a ‘public health approach’ but was concerned about the lack of detail about the unit 

and what it would mean in practice. 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pcc_chair_letter_to_mayor_vru_131218.pdf 

Page 91

Agenda Item 6

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pcc_chair_letter_to_mayor_vru_131218.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pcc_chair_letter_to_mayor_vru_131218.pdf


        

3.4 The Committee made the following recommendations aimed at shaping the future work of the VRU, 

including: 

 The VRU must tackle all forms of violence - whether it is committed with a gun, a knife, a 

broken bottle or a fist; and either by an adult or a young person. This includes tackling domestic 

violence. 

 Prevention is key. The VRU should explicitly focus on tackling Adverse Childhood Experiences - 

the term given to traumatic situations children live through—which increase the likelihood of 

poor outcomes by impacting on physical health, cognitive development and behaviour. 

 The VRU needs to focus on school exclusions at an early stage in its work programme. 

 The Mayor and the VRU should call on social media providers to take down all content that 

explicitly calls for the use of violence. 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

4.1 The Mayor wrote to the Chairman on 8 March 2019 with his response to the recommendations set 

out in the letter from the Chairman.  The letter from the Mayor is attached at Appendix 1 to this 

report for the Committee to note. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

 

Appendix 1: Letter to the Chairman from the Mayor, dated 8 March 2019. 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

  

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 92

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject:  The London Violence Reduction Unit  
 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 30 April 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report serves as a background paper to a discussion with Lib Peck, Director of the Violence 

Reduction Unit (VRU).  

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to the discussion with Lib Peck, 

Director of the Violence Reduction Unit and notes the subsequent discussion. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair of the Committee in consultation 

with the Deputy Chair, party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to 

agree any output from the discussion.  

 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee undertook a scrutiny investigation on tackling violence in London during 2018.  It 

wrote to the Mayor in December 2019 about a new approach for tackling violence in London.  The 

letter to the Mayor is here1 and his response is attached at Appendix 1 to Agenda Item 6.  

 

3.2 Tackling violence continues to be major concern for Londoners. In 2018 there were 136 homicides 

recorded by the Met.2 In the same period, there were nearly 15,000 knife crime offences, of which 

over 4,000 were recorded as knife crime with injury; nearly 2,500 gun crime offences, of which 

around 430 involved a lethal gun being discharged; and around 85,000 domestic abuse offences, of 

which nearly 24,000 involved violence with injury.3 There have been 33 homicides since 

1 January 2019. 

 

3.3 On 19 September 2018, the Mayor announced that a Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) for London will 

be set up. Using Scotland’s VRU as a model, the Mayor has said that this unit will “improve           

co-ordination between the Metropolitan Police, local authorities, youth services, health services, 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pcc_chair_letter_to_mayor_vru_131218.pdf 
2 Metropolitan Police, Hate Crime or Special Crime dashboard 
3 Metropolitan Police, Hate Crime or Special Crime dashboard 

Page 99

Agenda Item 7

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pcc_chair_letter_to_mayor_vru_131218.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pcc_chair_letter_to_mayor_vru_131218.pdf
https://www.met.police.uk/sd/stats-and-data/met/hate-crime-dashboard/
https://www.met.police.uk/sd/stats-and-data/met/hate-crime-dashboard/


        

criminal justice agencies and City Hall as part of the new enhanced partnership [and] will also build 

on what works and share best practice” on addressing the causes of violence.4  The Mayor has 

announced £6.8 million in funding for the VRU. This includes a one-off pot of £5 million for 

projects, and £1.8 million in annual funding for the Unit.5  The Mayor appointed Lib Peck, London 

Councils Executive Member for Crime and Public Protection and Leader of Lambeth Council, as 

Director of the VRU in March 2019. Her responsibilities will include: 

 Development of a long-term partnership strategy to tackle violence across the capital. 

 Responsibility for the VRU’s budget and resources, including contributions from the Mayor 

and other partners. 

 Building and leading an effective team with a diverse skillset and background. 

 Being the focal point of contact for the Mayor, Deputy Mayors and senior leaders of the other 

partner organisations involved in the Unit, including the Metropolitan Police Service, London 

Boroughs, criminal justice agencies, health services, schools and community organisations. 

 Making sure that communities and young people are properly represented and consulted.6 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 

 

4.1 The Committee agreed that it would hold a meeting to discuss the Director’s vision and plans for  

tackling violence in London through the VRU.  At this meeting members will explore the 

development of the VRU, and may wish discuss: 

 Her vision and key priorities for the VRU; 

 The work programme for the VRU and how it will work with partners; 

 How the VRU will work with local hubs and engage with local communities; 

 How the VRU will co-ordinate with and influence national initiatives; and 

 How the VRU’s success will be measured. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
4 Mayor of London, Mayor launches new public health approach to tackling serious violence, 19 September 2018 
5
 Mayor of London, Lib Peck appointed to lead London’s new Violence Reduction Unit, 14 January 2019  

6 Mayor of London, Lib Peck appointed to lead London’s new Violence Reduction Unit, 14 January 2019 

Page 100

https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/new-public-health-approach-to-tackling-violence
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/lib-peck-to-lead-violence-reduction-unit
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/lib-peck-to-lead-violence-reduction-unit


        

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

 

Contact Officer: Becky Short, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4760 

E-mail: becky.short@london.gov.uk 
 

Page 101

mailto:Rebecca.owen-evans@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Police and Crime Committee Work 
Programme  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 30 April 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out progress on the Police and Crime Committee’s work programme. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1  That the Committee notes the summary of work completed during the 2018/19 Assembly 

year.  

 

2.2  That the Committee notes the provisional schedule of meetings for the 2019/20 Assembly 

year, which is subject to agreement at the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on 

2 May 2019. 

 

2.3 That the Committee notes the topics for the Committee’s thematic meetings in May and 

June 2019, as agreed by the GLA Oversight Committee at its meeting on 8 April 2019. 

 

2.4 That the Committee agrees, in relation to urgent matters only, a general delegation of 

authority in respect of the Committee’s powers and functions (apart from those that 

cannot under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 be delegated) to the 

Chairman of the Committee, in consultation with the party Group Lead Members of the 

Committee and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, from the close of this meeting until the next 

meeting of the Committee on 14 May 2019, subject to agreement of the calendar of 

meetings at the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on 2 May 2019. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report outlining future topics for its work programme at each meeting.  As 

this is the last meeting of the Assembly year, this report provides an overview of work undertaken in 

2018/19 and sets out the proposed schedule of meetings for 2019/20.  

 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 8



        

4. Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1 The work programme has been designed to proactively examine issues of interest but also allows for 

flexibility to respond to topical issues and for the Committee to react to the Mayor’s Office for 

Policing and Crime’s (MOPAC) work programme.  Topics will be added to the timetable for Q&A 

meetings as they arise.   

  

The Committee’s work in 2018/19 

 

4.2 During the 2018/19 Assembly year, the Police and Crime Committee has scrutinised a wide range of 

topics related to policing and crime reduction in London, as summarised in paragraphs 4.2 to 4.17 

below.  

 

Question and Answer (Q&A) sessions with the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) and MOPAC 

4.3 The Committee continued to conduct monthly question and answer sessions with the MPS and 

MOPAC, on current and emerging issues.  Topics covered this year included: 

 Tackling violence; 

 EU Exit; 

 The Grenfell Tower Fire; 

 Police station closures; 

 Domestic abuse; 

 Stop and Search; 

 Emergency response times and calls to 999/101; 

 Child protection; 

 Spit guards; and 

 The MPS’s sanction detection rates. 

 

Tackling violence 

4.4 Most of the Committee’s work this year has been focused on tackling violent crime. In April 2018, 

following a sharp rise in the number of murders and knife crime offences, the decision was taken to 

hold an urgent briefing with the Mayor and MOPAC, to find out how the rise in violence is being 

addressed by City Hall. Following that meeting, the Committee agreed to carry out a piece of work 

to examine what more the Mayor can do to help tackle the rise in violent crime, both in the short 

and longer term.  

 

4.5 Over the course of the year the Committee has undertaken a range of activity in support of the 

investigation. This has included a visit to the MPS’s Violent Crime Taskforce, meetings with 

community and voluntary organisations and regular questioning of the MPS and MOPAC through 

Q&A meetings. Members focused on direct engagement with Londoners and held a round table with 

young people in July—facilitated by Hackney CVS—and an open mic debate in September with 

community organisations, young people, offenders and victims of violence.  

 

 

Page 104



        

4.6 The Committee also focused on learning from elsewhere and visited Birmingham to learn about its 

approach to tackling violence. Members met with the West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner 

and his team; visited an Academy to speak to students about their experiences; and went out on 

patrol with officers from West Midlands Police to see how it responds to violent crime.  

 

4.7 In a letter to the Mayor in December, Members set out their findings on the causes of violence; as 

well as the development of a London Violence Reduction Unit as a way of preventing violence. 

Members set out several principles for the development of the Unit, including a focus on all types of 

violence and locally led delivery. It also made recommendations for the activity of the Unit, 

including, for example, enabling the use of mediation services at a local level to prevent the 

escalation of violence. The response from the Mayor is expected shortly. 

 

4.8 The Committee’s examination into tackling violence continued after the publication of the letter 

with a meeting in January 2019 on Stop and Search. This included a discussion on the use of 

Section 60 stop and search, which authorises the use of stop and search without ‘reasonable 

grounds’, in a certain geographical location, for a set period. Members heard from young people and 

community organisations about their experiences of stop and search and how they would like to see 

the tactic improved, with a key focus on improving trust and engagement between young people 

and the police.  

 

Women offenders 

4.9 In July 2018, the Committee released A long way from home: improving London’s response to 

women in the criminal justice system. This followed an investigation into the impact of the closure of 

HMP Holloway; and the provision of specialist support services for women offenders across London. 

 

4.10 The report calls for a London-wide service that delivers access to quality specialist provision for all 

women and ensures the best possible outcomes at each stage of the criminal justice system, 

wherever in the capital they may live. The Committee called on the Mayor to adopt a set of 

objectives that demonstrate the capital is taking the steps needed to deliver change, and to work 

with Government to deliver the resources that London needs. The MPS welcomed the report's 

findings and acknowledged that there is “still pressing work to do”. The Mayor’s response thanked 

the Committee for “compiling and producing what is a very substantial examination of provision for 

female offenders in London” but was less clear as to whether he will adopt the objectives suggested.  

 

Healthcare in police custody 

4.11 In September 2018, the Committee published Detained, not forgotten: healthcare in police custody, 

which examined how the MPS ensures the health and safety of people in police custody. It found 

that a lack of secure accommodation for children in London often means there is no option but to 

keep a child in a police cell, sometimes for periods overnight. It also crucially found that vulnerable 

adults held in custody - including, for example, those with mental health problems - could be left at 

risk because no-one has responsibility to provide them with an Appropriate Adult. It set MOPAC a 

series of deadlines to work with partners to resolve these issues. 

 

4.12 The Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime welcomed the report and noted that the recommendations 

were largely ‘in line with our [MOPAC’s] current direction of travel.’  The Committee was particularly 

concerned about improvements to the provision of Appropriate Adults, and the MPS’s response to 

the report said that the MPS and the NHS will each contribute £240,000 to support a             

council-funded Appropriate Adult provision for adult detainees. 

Page 105



        

The voice of victims 

4.13 As part of his priority to deliver ‘a better criminal justice service for London’, the Mayor committed in 

the Police and Crime Plan to appoint a Victims’ Commissioner for London, to “support the Mayor 

and MOPAC as we work to improve the experience of victims and survivors of crime in London”. For 

the first time since her appointment, the Victims’ Commissioner for London appeared in front of the 

Committee.  Claire Waxman answered questions on representing the voice of victims, especially 

underrepresented groups, and how changes to the Met might be affecting the experience victims 

have of the police.  That session resulted in Members gathering new information on the way the 

Victims’ Commissioner for London and MOPAC are engaging with victims and has fed in to other 

investigations being carried out by the Committee.  

 
Mental health and policing 

4.14 With an estimated one million Londoners living with mental health needs, the police regularly 

encounter members of the public experiencing a crisis or needing other help.  The Committee 

examined the ways in which the MPS supports its officers to respond to people with mental health 

needs, and the role for MOPAC in supporting the MPS’s efforts to meet increasing mental health 

demand and holding it to account for its performance.  It heard from a number of organisations 

representing the police, and from Lord Victor Adebowale CBE, who in 2014 published a  report 

calling for organisational change to better equip officers in relation to mental health issues. 

  

4.15 In a letter to the Mayor, the Committee set out its findings and made recommendations to 

demonstrate to the public that all necessary steps are being taken to ensure the MPS adopts best 

practice in its response to increasing mental health demand.  This includes that: 

 Every officer is well-trained to identify and attend to mental health needs;  

 Every officer is able to refer promptly people to appropriate mental health services; and 

 There is effective monitoring of the impact of the Met’s response to mental health. 

 

The response from the Mayor is expected. 

 

Reducing burglary, theft and robbery 

4.16 Seven crimes, including burglary, robbery and theft, make up close to half of all crime recorded by 

the MPS.  The Police and Crime Plan put in place a system of ‘borough priorities’ to tackle these 

types of crimes, in which every borough picks two crimes from the seven and focuses efforts on 

tackling them.  

 

4.17 This year the Committee wanted to look at the impact of choosing priorities on crime levels, the 

police and victims.  Members visited Tower Hamlets to meet with Safer Neighbourhood Board (SNB), 

Ward Panel and Victim Support representatives to talk about the impact of borough priorities. The 

Committee also sought the views of other SNB and Ward Panel representatives to find out how well 

understood the priority setting process is; and discussed the difference that borough priorities can 

make with the MPS and MOPAC.  A letter was sent to the Mayor on 19 March 2019 (and is attached 

at Appendix 1 to Agenda Item 5). 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



        

Police-community engagement  

4.18 The Mayor has committed to a review of the ways in which the public can engage with the police. 

Members wanted to examine the impact of current arrangements—namely SNBs and Ward Panels—

on community engagement and holding local policing to account. Members met with a group of SNB 

and Ward Panel Chairs to hear about their work and the support provided to them by MOPAC and 

the MPS, discussing issues such as public involvement in local community activity, funding for local 

crime prevention projects and the impact of ward panels on how local officers tackle local problems.  

The issues raised in that discussion will be discussed with MOPAC and the MPS at this Q&A meeting.  

 

Future topics and the schedule of meetings for 2019/20 

4.19 The Committee’s work programme is intended to enable the Committee to effectively fulfil its roles 

of holding the MOPAC to account and investigating issues of importance to policing and crime 

reduction in London.  The Committee’s work involves a range of activities, including formal meetings 

with MOPAC, the MPS and other stakeholders, site visits, written consultations and round table 

meetings. 
 

4.20 The Committee will usually meet twice a month.  One of the monthly meetings is usually to hold a 

question and answer (Q&A) session with the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime.  The 

Commissioner of the MPS has been invited to these meetings.  The Committee will primarily use 

Q&A meetings to investigate topical issues and review MPS performance, including consideration of 

MOPAC’s approach to holding the MPS to account.  
 

4.21 The Committee’s other monthly meeting is used to consider a particular topic or aspect of policing 

and crime in greater detail. These investigations will be conducted either by the full Committee or 

working groups. Working groups will have delegated authority to prepare reports on the 

Committee’s behalf in consultation with party Group Lead Members.  Reports will be approved and 

published by the full Committee. 
 

4.22 The schedule of 2019/20 meetings and indicative use of the meeting slots, subject to decisions to 

be made at the Assembly’s Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019, is set out below.  The draft schedule 

allows for a Q&A in every month (apart from August) from May 2019 to March 2020.   

 

Meeting Date 
 

Type of Meeting 

Tuesday, 14 May 2019 at 10am 
 

Q&A session 
 

Thursday, 23 May 2019 at 10am 
 

Thematic – Hate crime 

Tuesday, 4 June 2019 at 10am 
 

Q&A session 
 

Wednesday, 19 June 2019 at 10am 
 

Thematic – Sexual offences and rape 

Wednesday, 3 July 2019 at 10am 
 

Q&A session  

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 at 10am 
 

Thematic 

Wednesday, 4 September 2019 at 10am 
 

Q&A session 

Thursday, 19 September 2019 at 10am Thematic 

Page 107



        

Meeting Date 
 

Type of Meeting 

 

Thursday, 3 October 2019 at 10am 
 

Thematic 
 

Tuesday, 15 October 2019 at 10am 
 

Q&A (3 PCC meetings in October) 
 

Wednesday, 30 October 2019 at 10am 
 

Thematic 

Wednesday, 13 November 2019 at 10am 
 

Q&A session 

Wednesday, 27 November 2019 at 10am 
 

Thematic 
 

Wednesday, 4 December 2019 at 10am Q&A session 
 

Thursday, 9 January 2020 at 10am 
 

Q&A session 

Wednesday, 22 January 2020 at 10am Thematic 
 

Wednesday, 5 February 2020 at 10am 
 

Q&A session 

Wednesday, 12 February 2020 at 10am 
 

Thematic 

Wednesday, 4 March 2020 at 10am  
 

Q&A session 

Wednesday, 18 March 2020 at 10am 
 

Thematic 

 

 

4.23 At its meeting on 8 April 2019, the GLA Oversight Committee agreed a work programme for May 

and June 2019 for the London Assembly’s committees, including the Police and Crime Committee.  

It agreed that this Committee’s thematic meeting slot in May 2019 would be allocated to scrutinising 

hate crime and the June meeting slot would be used for a scrutiny review of sexual offences and 

rape.  The Committee is asked to note the topics for its thematic meeting slots in May and June, as 

agreed by the GLA Oversight Committee. 

 

 Site Visits 

4.24 From time to time the Committee undertakes site visits to support its work.  The Committee has 

previously agreed that it will undertake site visits to the MPS’s Basic Command Units, a custody suite 

and the Metropolitan Police Marine Policing Unit.  The Committee may wish to give further 

consideration to the timing and arrangements for those site visits in the 2019/20 Assembly year. 

 

4.25 The report at Agenda Item 5 summarises the Committee’s visit on 20 March 2019 to the MPS’s 

Mounted Branch at Lewisham Police Station. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 108



        

5. Legal Implications 

 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  None 

 

Contact Officer: Becky Short, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4760 

E-mail: becky.short@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 109

mailto:becky.short@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 110


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript of Q&A - 6 March 2019

	4 Summary List of Actions
	04b - Appendix 1 - Letter from DMPC to Chairman re PCC meeting on 6 March 2019
	04b - Appenidx 1 - Letter from DMPC to Chairman re PCC meeting on 6 March 2019
	04bb - CSP KNIFE CRIME Plan Overview 2

	04c - Appendix 2 - Letter from DMPC to Chairman re PCC meeting on 6 Feb 2019

	5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	Appendx 1 - Chairman letter to the Mayor Neighbourhood crime FINAL

	6 Response to the Committee's Letter on a New Model for Preventing Violence in London
	Appendix 1 - response to VRU letter

	7 The London Violence Reduction Unit
	8 Police and Crime Committee Work Programme



